MOUNTAIN-PLAINS CONSORTIUM

MPC 15-289 | A. Kubas and K. Vachal

Impact of Energy Sector Growth on Perceived Transportation Safety in the 17-County Oil Region of Western North Dakota: A Three-Year Case Study





A University Transportation Center sponsored by the U.S. Department of Transportation serving the Mountain-Plains Region. Consortium members:

Colorado State University North Dakota State University South Dakota State University University of Colorado Denver University of Denver University of Utah Utah State University University of Wyoming

Impact of Energy Sector Growth on Perceived Transportation Safety in the 17-County Oil Region of Western North Dakota: A Three-Year Case Study

(Interim Report MPC 14-271 published October 2014)

Andrew Kubas, Ph.D. Kimberly Vachal, Ph.D.

Rural Transportation Safety and Security Center Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute North Dakota State University Fargo, North Dakota

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

North Dakota State University does not discriminate on the basis of age, color, disability, gender expression/identity, genetic information, marital status, national origin, public assistance status, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, or status as a U.S. veteran. Direct inquiries to: Equal Opportunity Specialist, Old Main 201, 701-231-7708 or Title IX/ADA Coordinator, Old Main 102, 701-231-6409.

ABSTRACT

The sharp increase in travel volumes, shift in traffic mix, and large increases in crashes have transformed the traffic environment in the oil region of western North Dakota. Roads once used for local access and agricultural purposes now regularly serve the energy sector. Oil companies, workers, commercial trucks, and industrial equipment associated with oil extraction use these roads to access drilling and production sites. This has led to a larger number of overweight and oversized vehicles sharing the roadway with other traffic. A survey questionnaire was sent to drivers to better understand perceptions and behaviors of road users in this region. County-level crash data were gathered to analyze changes in driving conditions during the latest oil boom – specifically between 2004 and 2014. This study addresses two goals for improving regional traffic safety: first, to examine public perceptions of traffic safety issues and priorities; and, second, to address crash trends and intervention strategies. Survey results indicate residents believe driving conditions in the region are dangerous, but ratings have improved as oil activity has decreased. Crash data reveal that crashes parallel oil production: as the number of active oil wells grew exponentially, so too did crashes – even when factoring for changes in vehicle miles traveled and population growth. Economic factors, such as the price of a barrel of oil, may be linked to the prevalence of crashes, especially those involving large trucks.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 BACKGROUND	5 6 9 9 .10 .12 .12 .12 .13 .14
 2.1 Western North Dakota Oil Region Geography	5 6 9 9 .10 .12 .12 .12 .13 .14
 2.2 Growth and Development of the Oil Industry 2.3 Community-Level Changes due to Oil Extraction and Development 2.4 Studies Relating to Perceived Safety 2.5 Driver Behavior as a Determinant of Roadway Safety 	6 9 9 .10 .12 .12 .13 .14
 2.3 Community-Level Changes due to Oil Extraction and Development 2.4 Studies Relating to Perceived Safety 2.5 Driver Behavior as a Determinant of Roadway Safety 	8 9 .10 .12 .12 .13 .14
2.4 Studies Relating to Perceived Safety2.5 Driver Behavior as a Determinant of Roadway Safety	9 9 .10 .12 .12 .13 .14
2.5 Driver Behavior as a Determinant of Roadway Safety	9 .10 .12 .12 .13 .14
	. 10 . 12 . 12 . 13 . 14
2.6 Large Truck-Passenger Vehicle Interaction	.12 .12 .13 .14
2.7 Perceived Risk on the Roadway	. 12 . 13 . 14
2.8 Safety Strategies/Campaigns as Intervention and Prevention Tools	. 13 . 14
2.9 Traffic Safety and Economic Factors	. 14
2.10 Gaps in the Literature	
3. METHOD	15
4. RESPONSE	17
5. RESULTS	19
5.1 Perceptions of Danger	.21
5.1.1 Danger: Perceptions of Self and Other	. 21
5.1.2 Danger: Risk on the Roadway	. 22
5.2 Danger Avoidance	.23
5.3 Driver Behavior	.24
5.3.1 Driver-Reported Priorities	. 25
5.4 Large Truck-Passenger Vehicle Interaction	.26
5.5 Driver Groups	.27
5.5.1 Gender	. 27
5.5.2 Age	. 28
5.5.3 Newcomers and Long-Term Residents	. 29
5.5.4 High-Risk Young Drivers	. 30
5.6 Impact of Public Awareness as a Safety Strategy: Code for the Road	.31
5.6.1 Exposure as a Determinant of Views and Behaviors	. 32
6. CRASH DATA	34
6.1 Oil Counties Compared to the Rest of the State	.34
6.1.1 Fatal Crashes	.34
6.1.2 Injury Crashes	. 36
6.3.3 Large Truck Crashes	. 38
6.2 Overall Trends in the Entire Oil Region	. 39
7. ECONOMIC FACTORS AND TRAFFIC SAFETY	40
8. CONCLUSION	43
9. DISCUSSION	45
REFERENCES	47

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Western North Dakota Oil Region	1
Figure 1.2	Fatal Crash Trends for Central Core Oil Counties and Other North Dakota Areas	2
Figure 1.3	Large Truck Crash Involvement, by Central Core Counties	3
Figure 1.4	Large Truck Crash Growth Trends in Central Core Counties	4
Figure 2.1	Oil Formations in North Dakota Oil Region	5
Figure 2.2	Active Oil Wells in North Dakota	6
Figure 5.1	Scree Plot of Factor Analysis	20
Figure 5.2	Willingness to Travel Out-of-the-Way for Roads with Fewer Oil Trucks	23
Figure 5.3	Willingness to Travel Out-of-the-Way for Roads with Better Surface Conditions	23
Figure 5.4	Driver Behavior Response: Seat Belt Use	24
Figure 5.5	Driver Behavior Response: Speeding	25
Figure 5.6	Driver Safety Priorities for Traffic Safety	26
Figure 6.1	Total Number of Fatal Crashes, 2004-2014	34
Figure 6.2	Fatal Crashes per 100 Million Rural VMT, 2004-2014	35
Figure 6.3	Fatal Crashes per 100,000 Population, 2004-2014	35
Figure 6.4	Total Number of Non-Fatal Injury Crashes, 2004-2014	36
Figure 6.5	Injury Crashes per 100 Million Rural VMT, 2004-2014	37
Figure 6.6	Injury Crashes per 100,000 Population, 2004-2014	
Figure 6.7	Total Number of Large Truck Crashes, 2004-2014	
Figure 6.8	Large Truck Crashes per 100,000 Population, 2004-2014	39
Figure 6.9	Driving Trends in Entire Oil Region, 2004-2014	39
Figure 7.1	Relationship between Additional On-Line Wells and Large Truck Crashes	41
Figure 7.2	Relationship between Large Truck Crashes and Fatal Crashes	42

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Western North Dakota Oil Production, June 2015	7
Table 2.2	Conditions of Paved Roads Affected by Oil Development	7
Table 2.3	Conditions of Unpaved Roads Affected by Oil Development	7
Table 2.4	Overweight Loads During Oil Development and Maintenance	8
Table 2.5	Average Trucks per Day on Major County Roads	.11
Table 2.6	Percent Trucks and Multi-Unit Trucks on Major County Roads	.12
Table 3.1	Mailing Samples and State Driver Population by Age	.16
Table 4.1	Valid Survey Responses and State Driver Population, by Age	.17
Table 4.2	Survey Response by Age and Gender	.18
Table 5.1	Quantitative Scale Definitions: Identical Questions on All Three Surveys	. 19
Table 5.2	Quantitative Scale Definitions: Unique Questions	. 19
Table 5.3	Perceptions of Danger Responses	.21
Table 5.4	Self-versus-Other Danger on the Roadway	.22
Table 5.5	Risk on the Roadway	.22
Table 5.6	Responses to Large Truck/Passenger Vehicle Interaction Questions	.26
Table 5.7	Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by Gender	.27
Table 5.8	Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by Age	.28
Table 5.9	Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by Length of Residency	. 30
Table 5.10	Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by High-Risk Driver Group	.31
Table 5.11	Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by Code for the Road Exposure	.33
Table 7.1	Correlative Relationships between Oil Extraction Activity and Crashes	.40

1. INTRODUCTION

Road usage and condition in western North Dakota has changed. Interstate, highway, and low-volume unpaved roads have been used more regularly due largely to the growth in the energy sector. This evolution is prominent in a 17-county region where new extraction methods such as hydraulic fracturing, or "fracking," have improved production economics. Roads once used for local access and agricultural purposes now see high volumes of traffic to serve oil production. Oil companies, workers, commercial trucks, and heavy-duty industrial equipment associated with oil and gas development all rely on these roads to access drilling and production sites. This has led to both an increase in traffic volume and an increase in the number of overweight and oversized vehicles on the road. As such, a number of roads are now in poor condition and others are deteriorating rapidly.

The oil region of North Dakota consists of 17 counties in the western part of the state: Billings, Bottineau, Bowman, Burke, Divide, Dunn, Golden Valley, McHenry, McKenzie, McLean, Mercer, Mountrail, Renville, Slope, Stark, Ward, and Williams (Figure 1.1). Three of the largest cities in the state are located in this region: Minot (Ward County), Dickinson (Stark County), and Williston (Williams County). Because of the growing energy sector, the region has been transformed via various social, economic, and environmental changes – many of which stem from rapid population growth, an influx of labor and jobseekers, and improved economic development.



Figure 1.1 Western North Dakota Oil Region

It is undeniable that the expanding oil industry has resulted in numerous benefits. The state currently has the second-lowest unemployment rate in the nation, largely due to the success of the oil region (Bureau of Labor Statistics 2015). The oil boom also plays a direct role in North Dakota's budget surplus, although future budget forecasts are uncertain because of the declining price of oil (Bosman 2015). Despite these economic benefits, an increased public safety risk associated with greater traffic volume is evident when examining the number and severity of crashes in the area. Fatal crash incidence trends in the central core of the oil region show exponential growth (Figure 1.2). The central core consists of the four highest-producing counties as defined by the North Dakota Industrial Commission: McKenzie, Mountrail, Dunn, and Williams (Department of Mineral Resources 2015) (see Table 2.1). Vehicle miles traveled (VMT) in these counties is generally higher than in most other areas in the region. (However, in 2014, McLean, Stark, and Ward counties did have comparable VMT figures to the central core counties.) This implies that increased oil activity in these counties is amplifying the number of miles traveled. Consequently, when more miles are driven, there are more opportunities for drivers to have a crash. This may partially explain why crash rates in these four counties are considerably higher than in other parts of North Dakota.

When these four counties are compared to all other counties in North Dakota, it is apparent that driving conditions in the central core are more dangerous than in the rest of the state. Using 2004 as a baseline, the growth in fatal crashes in the central core outpaces fatal crashes elsewhere (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Fatal Crash Trends for Central Core Oil-Producing Counties and Other North Dakota Areas

Large truck crashes are another contributing factor that can be examined to compare and contrast counties. In all four counties the number of large trucks involved in crashes remained stable from 2004 through 2009. After 2009, however, the number of large truck crashes rose significantly (Figure 1.3). With the exception of McKenzie County, large truck crash rates have not grown as sharply since 2011, but the overall trend has clearly moved upward between 2004 and 2014.



Figure 1.3 Large Truck Crash Involvement, by Central Core Counties

When factored together, the change in large truck crashes for the central core resembles an exponential growth curve (R^2 =0.9535) (Figure 1.4). These counties increased from just 37 large truck crashes in 2004 to 838 in 2014, an increase of 2,164%. This increase is exaggerated due to the small number of truck crashes in the base year and a rise in VMT. Nonetheless, the rate at which truck crashes have increased outpaces the rate at which VMT has grown in these counties and is probably a contributing factor to perceptions of danger in the region. The prevalence of large truck crashes may be a factor in negative perceptions of traffic safety as heavy-duty trucks are more likely to be involved in serious crashes (Braver et al. 1992), especially when speeding (Neeley and Richardson 2009; Islam and Hernandez 2013; Vadlamani et a. 2011). Note that heavy-duty trucks are not necessarily the root cause of danger; drivers of passenger vehicles can be at-fault in a crash for unsafely attempting to pass a large truck.

Driving factors such as these have prompted stakeholders such as the North Dakota Department of Transportation (NDDOT), the North Dakota Petroleum Council (NDPC), and the North Dakota Highway Patrol (NDHP) to take action to encourage safety on the roadway. One awareness campaign – *ProgressZone: Moving Forward Safely* – was created in 2012 as an intervention strategy to improve driver safety. In 2014, the *Code for the Road* campaign was rolled out as a safety initiative. Various messages have been promoted on billboards, newspapers, radio advertisements, television broadcasts, and online advertisements to alert drivers about safe practices. Education and outreach have also been utilized, and funding has been allocated for additional safety personnel and law enforcement to patrol the oil region (Grand Forks Herald 2013).



Figure 1.4 Large Truck Crash Growth Trends in Central Core Counties

This research report aims to address a few key goals related to improving traffic safety in the region: (1) to longitudinally examine public perceptions of traffic safety issues and priorities in the state's oil producing region; (2) to discover trends in large truck/passenger vehicle interaction among oil county drivers; and (3) to understand the efficacy of public education, specifically *ProgressZone: Moving Forward Safely* in 2012 and *Code for the Road* in 2014 and 2015 as safety intervention strategies focusing on large truck/passenger vehicle interaction. The following section provides context for the survey discussion presented in section five. Sections three and four highlight information on the methodology and survey response. Some crash facts related to the survey focus are given in section six. Section seven discusses the correlative relationships between economic factors of oil extraction and different crash metrics. The final sections include the conclusion and discussion for the survey.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Western North Dakota Oil Region Geography

The 17-county oil region is defined by its proximity to economically viable oil formations (Figure 2.1). Currently, two formations define the oil region: the Bakken and the Three Forks. The recently discovered Birdbear Formation is expected to augment oil activity further. All have different levels of drilling and production. The Bakken covers a significant portion of North Dakota, South Dakota, and Montana, and extends northward into Saskatchewan and Manitoba. It is estimated that the Bakken has a mean undiscovered volume of 3.65 billion barrels of oil (Pollastro et al. 2008). The Three Forks is directly below the Bakken, and is roughly two miles below the surface of the ground (Beitsch 2010). It has been estimated that it has two billion barrels of recoverable oil (Sonnenberg, Gantyno, and Sarg 2011). Presently, North Dakota produces just under 1.2 million barrels per day from these formations (Helms 2015), a number which was predicted by geological experts just a few years ago (St. Anthony 2011).



Figure 2.1 Oil Formations in North Dakota Oil Region

The Birdbear Formation lies further underground beneath the Three Forks Formation (LeFever 2009). Drilling and oil production is newer, with only 37 active wells producing as of 2010 (Yang and Kent 2010). Although the three formations share similar geographic and geologic properties, the drilling and production activity that takes place varies from formation to formation.

2.2 Growth and Development of the Oil Industry

Oil development in North Dakota has expanded rapidly, particularly since the latest "boom" in activity began in 2004 (NDIC 2015) (Figure 2.2). The North Dakota Industrial Commission's Department of Mineral Resources, Oil and Gas Division, reports that there are 12,543 actively producing oil and gas wells, a considerable spike from the 3,339 that were producing in 2004.



Figure 2.2 Active Oil Wells in North Dakota

The 17 western oil-producing counties vary considerably in terms of oil production (Table 2.1). McKenzie County has the highest volume of barrels of oil produced in June of 2015 (12,214,385), the greatest number of actively producing oil and gas wells (3,184), and the highest average production per well (3,836 barrels). These numbers represent a stark contrast from Mercer County, which did not have any wells producing in June of 2015. It was producing oil as recently as December of 2013.

These counties face unique impacts with regard to state and local roads because of oil development (Table 2.2, Table 2.3). As demand for oil has increased, so too has the use of local low-volume and high-volume roads. Many of these roadways were not designed for heavy truck traffic. The most common reason that infrastructure problems arise is because of the sheer volume of vehicles and weight that these vehicles place on each axle. The stressors are especially prominent in oil development (Rosendahl 2011). The NDDOT estimates that for each vertical oil well drilled, 400 truck loads are needed throughout implementation and maintenance (NDDOT 2008). Additionally, for each horizontal well drilled, anywhere from 600 to 1,000 truck loads are required (NDDOT 2008).

Based on extensive analysis of surface and base layer thickness, the materials of those layers, the amount of cracking and deterioration of the surface layer, underlying soil conditions, and the graded width of the road, a study from the Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute concluded that approximately 958 miles of paved roads and 12,718 miles of unpaved roads are impacted by oil development (UGPTI 2010). These impacts include additional maintenance costs, unforeseen maintenance costs, surface cracking, road deterioration, damages to grading, damages to drainage, and overhead expenditures (UGPTI 2010).

County	Ranking	Barrels	Wells	Average Production per Well		
McKenzie	1	12,214,385	3,184	3,836		
Mountrail	2	7,378,427	2,362	3,124		
Dunn	3	5,636,689	1,685	3,345		
Williams	4	5,589,626	2,031	2,752		
Divide	5	1,208,426	702	1,721		
Bowman	6	602,727	373	1,616		
Stark	7	464,045	251	1,849		
Burke	8	443,016	522	849		
Billings	9	421,379	494	853		
Bottineau	10	189,403	537	353		
McLean	11	83,331	42	1,984		
Golden Valley	12	69,247	88	787		
Renville	13	66,523	236	282		
Slope	14	31,064	15	2,071		
McHenry	15	5,961	13	458		
Ward	16	3,039	8	380		
Mercer	17	0	0	0		
TOTAL		34,407,288	12,543	2,743		
D.1.1. I						

 Table 2.1
 Western North Dakota Oil Production, June 2015

Bold: Leading county in category

Source: North Dakota State Industrial Commission 2015

 Table 2.2 Conditions of Paved Roads Affected by Oil Development

Road Condition	Miles	Percent Miles	Cumulative Miles	Cumulative Percent			
Very Good	60.8	6.3%	60.8	6.3%			
Good	496.1	51.8%	556.9	58.1%			
Fair	333.6	34.8%	890.5	92.9%			
Poor	38.2	4.0%	928.7	96.9%			
Very Poor	29.7	3.1%	958.4	100%			
Source: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute 2010							

Table 2.3 Conditions of Unpaved Roads Affected by	^v Oil Develop	pment
---	--------------------------	-------

		2	1				
Road Condition	Miles	Percent Miles	Cumulative Miles	Cumulative Percent			
Very Good	118.2	0.9%	118.2	0.9%			
Good	4,601.9	36.18%	4,720.1	37.1%			
Fair	7,374.2	57.98%	12,094.3	95.1%			
Poor	574.3	4.52%	12,668.6	99.6%			
Very Poor	49.3	0.4%	12,717.9	100%			
Source: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute 2010							

In general, truck loads consist of heavy-duty vehicles and objects that are significantly over the size and weight limits of low-volume rural roads (NDDOT 2008) (Table 2.4). The main impacts of the overweight loads and heavy-duty vehicles on rural road networks are damages to the crown and rutting (Skorseth and Selim 2000). The weight of the vehicles gradually diminishes the crown. As the crown decreases, water accumulation and traffic can soften the crust, create a rut, develop potholes, and, eventually result in washboard conditions that make the road dangerous year round.

Load Type (and number needed)	Weight (lbs.)			
Generator House (3)	111,180			
Shaker Tank/Pit	122,000			
Suction Tank	131,000			
Mud Pump (2)	164,000			
Shaker Skid	111,760			
Draw Works	130,880			
Hydraulic Unit	127,640			
Tool Room Junk Box	124,140			
BOP Skip	138,680			
Top Dog House	117,000			
Crown Section	140,000			
Derrick	159,000			
VFD House	130,100			
Mud Boat	114,380			
Substructure	136,000			
Centerpiece	139,440			
Choke Manifold	126,000			
MCC House	145,160			
BOP Setting Machine	145,160			
Source: North Dakota Department of Transportation 2008				

Table 2.4 Overweight Loads During Oil Development and Maintenance

A study by Mitra, Tolliver, and Dybing (2012) analyzed three main data sources – oil production forecasts, traffic data, and county road surveys – to assess the current situation in the state. Presently, there is greater traffic volume, an increased number of overweight vehicles, and an increased number of oversized trucks on the road because of energy sector growth. All of these variables contribute to deteriorating road conditions. The authors estimate an investment of \$900 million will be needed during the next 20 years to maintain roads for transporting oil and allowing travelers to have acceptable roadway use in western North Dakota.

2.3 Community-Level Changes due to Oil Extraction and Development

Early research regarding the impacts that oil extraction has on a region shows a similar situation to that currently being experienced in North Dakota. Affolter (1976) studied the implications oil development had in Scotland factoring for ecological, planning, and general environmental considerations. There was a link between human activity and growing pressures on the built and natural environments. Oil extraction in the North Sea created noise, safety hazards, increased traffic volumes, altered landscape, construction camps, and localized changes to infrastructure – all of which are presently occurring in western North Dakota.

Near Coastal Louisiana, environmental consequences from oil extraction in the Gulf of Mexico were augmented by hurricanes and tropical storms. Laska et al. (2005) performed a social impact assessment to gauge which human activities in the region would be impacted by various proposed projects aimed at restoring barrier islands. The authors noted that such projects could threaten transportation modes such as road networks, ports, and airports; issues that would not have arisen without demand for oil extraction.

Prowse et al. (2009) discuss the implications that oil development has had in northern Canada. The researchers found that the development has led to noticeable changes to infrastructure and transportation, particularly in terms of designing pipeline networks to deliver oil and gas to market. The study sheds light into the relationship between oil extraction and transportation safety, but focuses extensively on future responses due to predicted climate change instead of present issues stemming from oil development.

A recent study from Kubas and Vachal (2014) indicates that drivers in western North Dakota do not feel safe when traveling via automobile. Residents from the region generally are fearful during large truck-passenger vehicle interactions. About three-quarters of drivers were willing to drive out of the way during a typical commute to avoid roads with heavy truck traffic or to drive on roads with better signage and surface conditions. The study also tracked crash rates noting that conditions in the western oil-producing counties were actually more dangerous than in the rest of the state.

2.4 Studies Relating to Perceived Safety

Some studies have attempted to measure perceptions of safety in various situations. Naveh, Katz-Navon, and Stern (2005) gave a questionnaire to doctors and nurses at two separate hospitals to identify patient safety within the hospital building. A major finding from the study was that when employees perceived that the safety procedures were congruent with their daily work demands and were realistic given the available resources, the priority given to safety was high and overall safety subsequently improved. This was further augmented when information flow was clear and sufficient from all employees in the hospital. In western North Dakota, it can be argued that daily travel demands have exceeded capabilities of the roadway, and this may influence how road users perceive safety.

A survey of workers at British Rail aimed to understand perceptions of the importance of safety in the organization (Clarke 1999). Three types of workers – train drivers, supervisors, and senior managers – were asked to participate. All three groups rated safety as being important, but each group varied on how they perceived other groups would rate the importance of safety. This finding parallels some of the literature on risk taking: humans tend to perceive themselves as being safer than others (see section 2.7). In general, a sense of "otherness" emerges when one is asked to compare one's self to one's peers or colleagues. In this instance, a hierarchy of transportation management officials rated the importance of safety differently compared to others at the exact same institution.

2.5 Driver Behavior as a Determinant of Roadway Safety

Driver behavior directly impacts safety. Operating a vehicle while impaired, speeding, or choosing not to wear a seat belt contributes to danger. Drivers have different underlying mechanisms that determine emotional or reckless driving violations. For example, Martinussen et al. (2013) gave a survey questionnaire to 4,335 Danish drivers in an attempt to understand behaviors while operating a motor vehicle. The study found a differentiation between how drivers with emotional violations and those with reckless violations change their driving styles. The changes stem from different underlying mechanisms, such as errors or lapses while unfocused, emotional arousal, reckless behavior, and confusion. Given the large volume of vehicles on western North Dakota roads, a lapse in judgment, loss of focus, or confusion on the roadway could be fatal.

Strayer and Drews (2007) focused on cell phone use as it related to driver distraction. The authors tested drivers by using a simulated screen to see if hands-free cell phone use resulted in any lost information while driving. Drivers who use a hands-free cell phone failed to see some information in the driving scene. According to the researchers, drivers do not encode information adequately, even when using a

hands-free device. The authors indicate that the best driving scenario is one in which the driver is not distracted whatsoever.

Individuals behave differently after being in a crash (af Wahlberg 2012). A study of drivers at the bus company Gamla Uppsalabuss in Uppsala, Sweden, attempted to explain if drivers operate vehicles in a safe manner after having been in a crash. The study showed that there is no large effect on general driving behavior after a crash, but the researcher noted that drivers may change specific behaviors. For example, an individual who experienced a crash at a junction may use extra caution when at junctions in the future.

Drivers exhibit more stress, worry, and exhaustion after a crash. A survey of 124 drivers from the Atlanta area found that 42 had been in at least one crash in the previous five years. When studying differences between those that did and did not crash, Lucas (2003) showed that drivers reporting having been in at least one crash had greater personal safety concerns, worries about driving, stress, exhaustion, and negative physical symptoms. These experiences may directly relate to overall perceptions of safety on the roadway.

Although drivers who have experienced a crash exhibit more fear and worry on the roadway, these motorists nonetheless tend to have higher levels of risk-taking, even after the crash has occurred (Lin et al. 2004). A 20-month study was conducted in Taiwan in which the impact of motorcycle crash experiences was investigated. Students with prior crash involvement had higher risk-taking levels than those without a crash. However, involvement in a previous crash did not change one's reported levels of risk-taking. This indicates that risk-taking among drivers varies individually – danger on the roadway can stem from individual behavior.

2.6 Large Truck-Passenger Vehicle Interaction

Nationally, fatalities from large truck crashes decreased from 1975 to 1999, likely due to safety improvements to trucks and passenger cars (Lyman and Braver 2005). After querying FARS data for U.S. truck crash rates and truck crash fatality rates over that time frame, the researchers found that fatalities in large truck crashes per 100 million truck miles traveled decreased. Similarly, truck driver deaths per 10,000 truck registrations also decreased over the same period. The number of fatalities in large truck crashes, however, has not changed per 100,000 population. It is hypothesized by the authors that across-the-board safety advances to truck and passenger cars may explain the overall crash rate improvement.

A study by Jermakian (2012) posits that further safety improvements such as side view assist, forward collision warning, lane departure warning, and vehicle stability control would be relevant to approximately one-fourth of all large truck crashes in the United States. The author extracted data from two sources – the National Automotive Sampling System General Estimates System (NASS GES) and FARS – to identify which safety features were relevant to different types of crashes. This was accomplished by factoring for the crash type and manner of collision and then separating individual crash events as they related to each of the four crash avoidance technologies. It was found that such technology could be applicable to tens of thousands of large truck crashes annually.

Aghabayk et al. (2011) showed that large trucks execute lane changes more smoothly on arterial roads and freeways than shorter vehicles. The researchers applied different models to lane-changing techniques by large and heavy trucks. They attributed the smoothness of large truck movements to the fact that heavy vehicles apply lower acceleration or deceleration when executing a lane change maneuver. Although the authors have a limited sample size, they also present preliminary findings suggesting that large truck driver behaviors are typically safer than drivers of passenger vehicles. The Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute analyzed the impacts that oil and gas development have had on western North Dakota's roads (UGPTI 2010). Trucks make up a significant portion of traffic in oil-producing counties (Table 2.5). Of the 15 western North Dakota oil-producing counties studied, the mean number of trucks on the road each day is 61 (UGPTI 2010). Beyond volume, the number of trucks on the road in western North Dakota is also a significant proportion of the traffic (Table 2.6). As a whole, in the 15 counties that were studied, trucks comprised 42% of the average daily traffic (UGPTI 2010).

County	Road Segments Observed	Minimum	Mean	Maximum			
Billings	9	4	31	80			
Bottineau	3	48	68	86			
Bowman	6	30	125	233			
Burke	6	4	22	66			
Divide	3	28	96	172			
Dunn	10	12	61	198			
Golden Valley	5	23	38	50			
McHenry	4	7	21	40			
McKenzie	12	14	97	253			
Mercer	3	1	3	6			
Mountrail	12	12	65	252			
Slope	4	7	17	34			
Stark	5	9	26	62			
Ward	6	24	105	217			
Williams	11	10	68	312			
All	99	1	61	312			
Source: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute 2010							

 Table 2.5
 Average Trucks per Day on Major County Roads

The same study from the Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute discussed a survey which analyzed 2007 truck traffic data to establish a baseline of average ADT and percent truck traffic on roads in North Dakota's oil region. The survey found that between 2008 and 2010 the percentage of trucks on collector roads – those designed to move traffic from local roads to arterial roads – increased from 18% in 2008 to 39% in the same counties by 2010 (UGPTI 2010). This is a considerable increase in a relatively short span of time, especially when considering that a majority of western North Dakota residents do not feel safe passing or being passed by heavy-duty trucks (Kubas and Vachal 2012).

County	Trucks as a percent of ADT	Multi-Units as a Percent of Trucks
Billings	49	23
Bottineau	24	38
Bowman	62	24
Burke	43	72
Divide	54	63
Dunn	46	46
Golden Valley	42	31
McHenry	51	52
Mercer	14	8
Mountrail	49	49
Slope	37	28
Stark	24	42
Ward	26	35
Williams	51	56
All	42	44
Source: Upper G	Freat Plains Transportation Institute	2 2010

 Table 2.6
 Percent Trucks and Multi-Unit Trucks on Major County Roads

2.7 Perceived Risk on the Roadway

Drivers often perceive themselves as being safer than others. Out-of-state oil workers perpetuate the "selfversus-other" dynamic in western North Dakota. A study by DeJoy (1989) asked 106 college students to compare their risk of being involved in 10 different crash scenarios compared to other drivers at their school. Subjects consistently viewed their chances of being involved in a crash as significantly less than their counterparts. Delhomme, Verlhiac, and Martha (2009) had similar results in a study of 3,002 young French drivers. These individuals were asked to rate perceptions of one's self compared to other drivers with regard to tendencies and expectations when operating a vehicle. Like the study by DeJoy, drivers rated themselves as safer than other drivers. Additionally, this study factored for various emotional states. Drivers who exhibited comparative optimism tended to take less risk on the roadway and were safer drivers than those categorized as exhibiting comparative pessimism.

Certain demographics are more prone to taking risks on the roadway than others. In North Dakota, young male drivers are a particularly dangerous group. They are more likely to engage in dangerous driving activity, less likely to partake in safe driving behaviors, and are less likely to be positively influenced by traffic safety messages (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2010-2015). A study utilizing the U.S. National Household Travel Survey estimated the individual driver risk for crash involvement (Ouimet et al. 2010). Just as is in North Dakota, on a national scale the study indicated that young male drivers have the highest risk of any driver group. Additionally, young drivers with passengers in the vehicle were found to engage in high-risk activity on the roadway.

Safety Strategies/Campaigns as Intervention and 2.8 **Prevention Tools**

Traffic safety interventions are generally formed under four approaches: policy (Shults et al. 2004), enforcement (Houston and Richardson 2006), education (Hedlund et al. 2008), and media (Nichols and Ledingham 2008). All intervention approaches have been used with varying degrees of success in addressing issues such as seat belt use, impaired driving, and speeding. These strategies are primarily associated with public education and perceptions, and have been proven in past applications.

For example, the *ProgressZone: Moving Forward Safely* campaign launched by the North Dakota Department of Transportation in 2012 utilized a combination of education and media strategies to alert drivers in western North Dakota oil-producing counties about safe behaviors (North Dakota Petroleum Council 2011a, North Dakota Petroleum Council 2011b). The campaign had four main messages displayed on large yellow billboards: "Pass With Caution," "Be Patient. Slow Down," "Buckle Up. Every Time," and "Roads Shared. Lives Spared" (Wehrman 2011). The campaign proved successful: roughly 42% of all drivers that viewed the safety messages positively changed their driving habits (Kubas and Vachal 2012). Understanding the safety impacts of this campaign is important in future traffic safety resource decisions (Donovan 2011).

The *Code for the Road* campaign is another example of education and media strategies focused on traffic safety. The safety messages target driver behavior and focus on buckling up, driving sober, and slowing down. It is a statewide initiative with commercials displayed on television, radio, and internet advertisements (Heidle, Horton, and Lerman 2014). Messages began appearing in 2014, and have been rolled out consistently in 2015.

Local, state, regional, and federal safety campaigns have been waged in an attempt to promote safer driving habits and discourage dangerous driving activity. Safety tools such as *What's the Hurry*? in northeastern Tennessee (Whittam et al. 2006), the *Hawaii Opportunity Probation with Enforcement* (Hawken 2011), the *South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project* (Loudenburg, Drube, and Leonardson 2010), the *Checkpoint Strikeforce* program in NHTSA's Region 3 (Lacey et al. 2008), the annual nationwide *Drunk Driving: Over the Limit, Under Arrest* Labor Day crackdown (Solomon et al. 2008), the *Target Zero Team Project* in Washington State (Cicchino 2012), the *Saving Lives* program in Massachusetts (Hingson et al. 1996), the *Strategic Evaluation States* initiative in Alaska, Georgia, and West Virginia (Syner et al. 2008), the *Better Driver Campaign* in Florida (Lee et al. 2010), and the national *Click It Or Ticket* campaign (Kim and Yamashita 2003) are geared toward improving safety on the roadway and have been studied extensively. Many of these programs emphasize preventing impaired driving, and some do so specifically targeting young males (Murry, Stam, and Lastovicka 1993).

2.9 Traffic Safety and Economic Factors

Studies have revealed a relationship between overall traffic safety and economic factors. Most link the price of petroleum and/or oil to crash patterns. In Minnesota, the price of gasoline was found to have an inverse relationship to traffic safety: as gas prices declined, the total number of crashes, property-damage-only crashes, and injury crashes rose, likely because of increased travel at more affordable prices (Chi et al. 2013a). The study found more noticeable differences in rural counties than in urban counties; rural communities generally had worse traffic safety conditions with lower gas prices. Considering the rurality of North Dakota and the recent decline in oil and gas prices, it may be expected that some traffic safety metrics will worsen.

A study in Mississippi had comparable findings: an increase in gas prices had a noticeably reduced less severe crashes (Chi et al. 2013b). However, there was a negligible effect on fatal crashes. A separate study in Mississippi linked higher gas prices with a decline in impaired driving crashes (Chi et al. 2011).

At the national level, trends mirrored those in individual states. Lower gas prices tend to result in more traffic fatalities (Grabowski and Morrisey 2014). Once again, this was not because of changes in driver behavior, but because of additional travel activity resulting in more opportunities for a crash to occur.

Hyatt et al. (2009) analyzed the effect of gas price as it specifically related to motorcyclists. The findings contrasted other studies in the literature in that higher gas prices appeared to result in more deaths to motorcycle drivers. The relationship between the price of gas and motorcyclist safety was somewhat inconclusive: higher gas prices resulted in more deaths to motorcycle drivers by volume, but when the authors factored for the rate at which vehicles were registered there was no substantive association between gas prices and motorcyclist fatalities.

Although these studies will guide the present research, none focus on areas with historically high oil extraction activity but declining petroleum prices. It is clear that economic factors such as the price one pays to enjoy vehicular travel are linked to actual traffic safety, but does a similar relationship exist when the volume of traffic declines because a substantial amount of said traffic is related to the price of oil and gas being high? It is plausible that there may be a correlative relationship between the price of oil, gas, and crash patterns, but it is uncertain if this relationship will also follow inverse patterns. For instance, as oil prices have dropped overall extraction activity has subsequently declined. As a result, drivers are able to travel more often – which increases crash likelihood – yet these same drivers may perceive travel to be safer as a product of fewer oil trucks and oil-related traffic sharing the roadway. This paper will examine possible correlative links between oil prices, crash trends, and perceptions of traffic safety.

2.10 Gaps in the Literature

These topics have been studied widely by academics and transportation safety personnel, but none have focused solely on North Dakota oil development. Moreover, none have given priority to rural road segments. The goal of this project is to measure driver behaviors, perceptions, priorities, and risk given rapidly changing road networks in western North Dakota and worsening crash trends. This will be achieved by (1) measuring public perceptions of traffic safety issues and priorities in the state's oil producing region; (2) determining perceived driver risk and its relation to danger on the roadway; and, (3) querying rural crash data to parallel it with on-road driving experiences as reported by drivers. This crash data will be compared to the non-oil-producing part of the state in an attempt to quantify if the perceptions of dangerous driving conditions are simply perceived or occurring in reality.

3. METHOD

A mail survey was used to obtain data from western North Dakota residents. A draft survey was designed by blending questions related to traffic safety, *ProgressZone: Moving Forward Safely* goals (in 2012), *Code for the Road* goals (in 2014 and 2015), and issues directly related to oil traffic and oil development. Industry partners provided input regarding questions to include in the final survey. The mailing to drivers included a cover letter which invited participation and explained the goals of the survey. The survey was first mailed to drivers on April 6, 2012, and was open to response until May 1, 2012. In 2014, the second mailing for a follow-up study was mailed to drivers on April 1, 2014, and was open to response until May 5, 2014. The 2015 mailing occurred on April 9, 2015, and was open to response until May 23, 2015.

The state driver licensing division used the 17-county oil region driver population for the sampling. Initially, the 2012 mailing list provided by the North Dakota Department of Transportation consisted of 2,700 driver addresses. Prior to mailing, 41 addresses were removed because they were in counties outside of the 17-county focus area. Thus, 2,659 addresses were verified for final mailing. Of these, 10 were flagged as addresses of individuals who had moved and had not provided a new forwarding address, 2 were flagged as "unmailable," and 22 were flagged as "problem" addresses that were not mailed. Ultimately, 2,623 surveys were mailed. Three of the 2,623 initial surveys that were mailed were unable to be forwarded to a current address and were returned by the post office. Of the 2,620 successfully mailed, 781 responses were obtained. From these, two responses had zip codes that were either out-of-state or unverifiable. Of the useable survey responses received, 779 were verified as North Dakota responses and form the valid driver response sample used as the baseline year in the analysis.

In 2014, a slightly larger mailing list of 2,720 driver addresses was provided by the state driver licensing division. Before mailing the survey, 54 addresses were removed because they were either addressed to out-of-state drivers or North Dakotans living in counties outside of the target area. None of the remaining addresses were flagged as "unmailable," "problem addresses," or sent to individuals who had changed residency. A total of 2,666 surveys were mailed. Two of these were returned as undeliverable. Of the 2,664 successfully mailed, 710 responses were acquired. Of these, 14 responses had zip codes that were either out-of-state addresses, unverifiable, or from counties outside of the 17-county target region. Thus, 696 surveys comprise the final sample for the 2014 follow-up study.

The 2015 mailing consisted of 2,720 driver addresses provided by the state licensing division. Prior to mailing the survey, 64 addresses were eliminated due to being addressed to areas that were outside of the target region. None of the 2,656 remaining addresses were tagged as "unmailable," or "problem addresses" by the post office. Of these, two were returned as undeliverable. From the 2,654 successfully mailed, 599 were returned. Three surveys did not include a zip code, one survey had an unknown zip code, and six had zip codes that were from North Dakota counties outside of the study area. A total of 589 surveys were valid and comprise the final sample for the third year of the study.

The sample sizes were based on a 95% confidence interval, with a 5% confidence level. The expected response rate was estimated at 20%. Although mail survey response is generally low -10% is not uncommon – a slightly better response rate was expected due to the parameters used in the survey design and administration. These parameters included keeping the survey to a single page, including "Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute, North Dakota State University" letterhead, and using mail envelopes with official insignia. Given the timeliness of the topic at hand, it was expected that an above-average response would be obtained.

A proportionate stratified random sample was used to select drivers. The North Dakota driver population was stratified by county. Individuals living in the 17 oil-producing counties had no greater than a 3.5% chance of receiving a survey. The greatest number of surveys was sent to Williams, Stark, and Ward counties, respectively. This aligns with the fact that these three counties are home to the three largest cities in the oil region: Williston, Dickinson, and Minot.

Although a random sample was obtained for the survey mailing, the sample was not representative of the population (Table 3.1). Males were overrepresented in the 2012 mailing and underrepresented in the 2014 follow-up study. Whereas the adult (18+) population in the 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties is 51 percent male and 49 percent female, the sample used in 2012 had rates that were 62 percent male and 38 percent female and the 2014 follow-up study had rates that were 42 percent male and 58 percent female. In 2015, proportions more accurately represented the balance of the North Dakota population: 48% of responses were from males and 52% were from females.

The proportion of drivers in each age cohort did not always mirror the real-life proportion of drivers in the oil-producing counties. In 2012, the sample was underrepresented in terms of drivers 44 years of age and younger. In contrast, drivers between ages 55 and 74 were overrepresented in the sample when compared to their actual proportion of the population in the counties. In 2014, a comparable situation occurred: drivers under the age of 34 were underrepresented and drivers between the ages of 55 and 74 were once again overrepresented. The same trend occurred in 2015. Some age cohorts – such as the 45-54 age group and the 75+ age cohort – were accurately represented in the mailing sample.

Survey Information	Age Cohort						
	18-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64	65-74	75+
Surveys Mailed, 2012	86	285	212	584	637	488	366
Surveys Mailed, 2014	150	249	375	609	652	358	273
Surveys Mailed, 2015	157	270	425	530	634	354	286
Percent of Sample Mailed, 2012	3.2	10.7	8.0	22.0	24.0	18.4	13.8
Percent of Sample Mailed, 2014	5.6	9.3	14.1	22.8	24.5	13.4	10.2
Percent of Sample Mailed, 2015	5.9	10.2	16.0	20.0	23.9	13.3	10.8
Oil County Population ₁	17,486	21,976	18,087	24,914	21,292	12,730	13,637
Percent of 18+ Oil County Population	13.4	16.9	13.9	19.1	16.4	9.8	10.5
2Source: US Census Bureau 2010 Census							

Survey responses were entered into a database using SPSS Statistics 22 software (see Table 5.1 and Table 5.2 for quantitative scale definitions). Initially, a factor analysis was performed to identify possible components linked to constructs developed by the researchers. After the factor analysis was conducted, different statistical analyses – such as measures of association, Chi-Square tests, and 1-way ANOVAs – were performed to identify differences in response distributions and differences across target groups. Most of the questions on the survey were posed at ordinal levels of measurement, though some were presented and subsequently coded as dichotomous "dummy" variables. Some variables, such as length of residency, were recoded to ordinal scales based on prior studies from the literature. Key driver groups – gender, age, newcomers/long-term residents, high-risk young drivers, and those exposed to the *Code for the Road* safety campaign – were treated as independent variables in the analysis. Driver knowledge, attitudes, behaviors, and beliefs were most often treated as dependent variables in the statistical analyses.

4. **RESPONSE**

Survey response rate was 29.7% in 2012, with 779 valid responses from the sample mailing to 2,620 drivers. The response rate was 26.1% in 2014, with 696 valid surveys obtained from a mailing to 2,666 drivers. A smaller response rate of 22.2% was obtained in 2015, with 589 valid surveys returned from a mailing to 2,654 North Dakota drivers. As expected, the proportion of responses by age cohort increased with age: there were more responses from older (45+) drivers than there were responses from drivers under the age of 45 (Table 4.1). This was likely because a smaller proportion of younger drivers received the survey compared to the higher proportion of older drivers who received it. Note that the valid responses obtained from this study are not representative of the 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties: a much lower proportion of drivers under the age of 45 are in the sample than are in the population. Similarly, the portion of drivers between ages 45 and 74 is much higher than the actual proportion of individuals in this age group in the 17-county oil region. The 75+ age cohort comprised 10.3% of responses in 2012, 10.6% of responses in 2014, and 12.6% of responses in 2015 - numbers that accurately reflect their proportion (10.5%) of the oil region population. Also consider that the total number of responses from the 18-24 age cohort is not large enough to be extrapolated to fit the 17 western North Dakota oil county population. In general, at least 30 valid responses are required for data to be considered representative of a particular demographic. Thus, any conclusions made for the 18-24 age cohort cannot be considered indicative of the entire 18-24 year-old population in this portion of the state.

Table 4.1 Valid Survey Responses and State Driver Population, by Age								
Survey Information	Age Cohort							
	18-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64	65-74	75+	
Valid Surveys, 2012	12	49	55	193	220	168	80	
Valid Surveys, 2014	17	40	55	186	198	124	74	
Valid Surveys, 2015	8	44	59	121	192	89	74	
Percent of Sample Received, 2012	1.5	6.3	7.1	24.8	28.2	21.6	10.3	
Percent of Sample Received, 2014	2.4	5.7	7.9	26.7	28.4	17.8	10.6	
Percent of Sample Received, 2015	1.4	7.5	10.1	20.6	32.7	15.2	12.6	
Oil County Population ₁	17,486	21,976	18,087	24,914	21,292	12,730	13,637	
Percent of 18+ Oil County Population	13.4	16.9	13.9	19.1	16.4	9.8	10.5	
/Source: US Census Bureau 2010 Census								

 Table 4.1
 Valid Survey Responses and State Driver Population, by Age

Frequency Missing 2012=2; Frequency Missing 2014=2; Frequency Missing 2015=2

When factoring for both gender and age, multiple demographic groups have less than 30 responses for their respective cohorts. Responses obtained in 2012 cannot be extrapolated to fit the entire population of 18-24 year-old males, 18-24 year-old females, 25-34 year-old females, and 35-44 year-old males (Table 4.2). A similar pattern emerges for 2014 responses. Yet again, both males and females in the 18-24 age cohort did not have at least 30 responses; thus information obtained for these groups will not be considered representative. Males in the 25-34 and 35-44-year-old age cohorts also did not have 30 responses. There were only 27 responses from females over the age of 75; this represents another group for which responses must be interpreted critically. In 2015, responses for males under the age of 44, females under the age of 34, and females over age 75 cannot be extrapolated to fit the entire North Dakota driver population. In the forthcoming statistical analyses, independent variables are not examined in such detail; therefore, considerations of only age and only gender can be considered an accurate reflection of attitudes in the target region (see sections 5.5.1 and 5.5.2 for further detail).

	2012		2014		2015		
Age	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
18-24	6 (50.0%)	6 (50.0%)	0 (0.0%)	17 (100.0%)	5 (62.5%)	3 (37.5)	
25-34	30 (61.2%)	19 (38.8%)	5 (12.5%)	35 (87.5%)	20 (45.5%)	24 (54.5%)	
35-44	24 (43.6%)	31 (56.4%)	24 (44.4%)	30 (55.6%)	23 (39.0%)	36 (61.0%)	
45-54	113 (58.5%)	80 (41.5%)	69 (37.5%)	115 (62.5%)	41 (34.2%)	79 (65.8%)	
55-64	137 (62.3%)	83 (37.7%)	86 (43.9%)	110 (56.1%)	97 (50.8%)	94 (49.2%)	
65-74	104 (62.7%)	62 (37.3%)	55 (45.1%)	67 (54.9%)	49 (55.7%)	39 (44.3%)	
75+	38 (47.5%)	42 (52.5%)	45 (62.5%)	27 (37.5%)	45 (61.6%)	28 (38.4%)	
Total	452 (58.3%)	323 (41.7%)	284 (41.5%)	401 (58.5%)	280 (48.0%)	303 (52.0%)	
	Frequency Missi	ng=4	Frequency Missi	ng=11	Frequency Missi	ng=6	

 Table 4.2
 Survey Response by Age and Gender

5. **RESULTS**

Survey responses offer important insight into driver perceptions, attitudes, and behaviors regarding traffic conditions in the oil region. Simple frequency analysis of ordinal and dichotomous survey responses provides a baseline of driver views and behaviors. Quantifying responses allows for statistical testing of relationships, means, and tests of significance. Quantitative scale definitions are provided in Table 5.1 (for questions that were unchanged in survey iterations) and Table 5.2 (for unique questions on the individual annual surveys).

Q#	Question	Scale	Conversion Values
1	Safety Now vs. 5 Years Ago	1-5	1=Much Less Safe to 5=Much Safer
3	Sudden Brake/Swerve	0-1	0=No, 1=Yes
4	Law Enforcement Presence	0-1	0=No, 1=Yes
5	Meet/Pass Large Trucks	1-5	1=Never to 5=Daily
6a	Safety Passing Large Trucks	1-5	1=Very Unsafe to 5=Very Safe
6b	Being Passed by Trucks	1-5	1=Very Unsafe to 5=Very Safe
7a	Extra Driving to Avoid Oil Trucks	1-4	1=No Change to 4=20+ Minutes Extra
7b	Extra Driving for Better Surface/Signs	1-4	1=No Change to 4=20+ Minutes Extra
8a	Seat Belt Use in Town	1-5	1=Never to 5=Always
8b	Seat Belt Use Over 30 MPH	1-5	1=Never to 5=Always
9	Speeding on 65 MPH Road (Over 70 MPH)	1-5	1=Never to 5=Always
13a	Signage of Traffic Rules	1-4	1=Least Important to 4=Most Important
13b	Law Enforcement Presence	1-4	1=Least Important to 4=Most Important
13c	Driver Awareness	1-4	1=Least Important to 4=Most Important
13d	Truck/Car Interaction	1-4	1=Least Important to 4=Most Important

Table 5.1 Quantitative Scale Definitions: Identical Questions on All Three Surveys

Table 5.2	Quantitative Scale Definitions:	Unique	Questions
-----------	---------------------------------	--------	-----------

Q#	Year	Question	Scale	Conversion Values
2	2012	Message Alert System	0-1	0=No, 1=Yes
10	2014	Future Injury Crashes	0-5	0=None to 5=5 or more times
11a	2014	Safer Driver Than Others	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
10a	2015	Safer Driver Than Others	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
11b	2014	Out-of-State Dangerous	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
10b	2015	Out-of-State Dangerous	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
11c	2014	Risking My Life Driving	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
10c	2015	Risking My Life Driving	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
11d	2014	See Crash, Drive Less	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
		Often		
10d	2015	See Crash, Drive Less	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
		Often		
10e	2015	Fear Future Crash	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
10f	2015	Improve Road Conditions	1-5	1=Strongly Disagree to 5=Strongly Agree
12	2014	Multi-Vehicle Crash	1-3	1=No, 2=Else's Fault, 3=My Fault
11	2015	Multi-Vehicle Crash	1-3	1=No, 2=Else's Fault, 3=My Fault

The survey questionnaire was designed to measure certain constructs within transportation safety. The researchers wanted to learn about key latent variables which are not easily measured. When applied to residents living in western North Dakota, these factors include perceptions of danger, perceptions of risk, travel behavior, safety priorities, and attitudes toward large truck-passenger vehicle interaction. Factor

analysis was utilized to determine which variables had similar patterns of responses. Initially each variable (with the exception of demographic information) was correlated with one another to identify variables that may be unrelated to any underlying factor. A total of 17 variables were used in the factor analysis, and six components emerged as having an Eigenvalue greater than 1. A scree plot of the components, however, visually displays that the first four components explain a significant percentage of the total variance, and that the fifth and sixth components have an Eigenvalue slightly larger than 1, and are plausibly the "beginning point" of the scree plot's plateau (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1 Scree Plot of Factor Analysis

These four components were subjected to a Varimax rotation with Kaiser Normalization, and factor loads were sorted by size. Only factor loads greater than 0.40 were considered. The four main components appear to be linked to the constructs identified by the researchers. The first factor relates to perceptions of danger. The second factor can be described as those choosing to avoid danger. The third factor encompasses safe driver behaviors. The fourth factor highlights large truck-passenger vehicle interaction. The relationships of driver responses to these themes will be the focal point of the following data analysis.

5.1 Perceptions of Danger

Multiple survey questions focused on safety conditions in the 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties. Response frequencies for three of these general safety questions are provided in Table 5.3. Responses show that drivers most commonly do not feel safer driving now than they did five years ago. A majority of respondents chose the worst option on the Likert scale – "Much Less Safe" – in both 2012 and 2014. This declined to 42.4% of respondents in 2015. An independent samples t-test demonstrates that there was a statistically significant difference in how drivers rated safety in 2015. Compared to responses in 2014 (t=-3.925, df=1,267, p<0.001) and 2012 (t=-4.475, df=1,352, p<0.001) participants in 2015 believed that driving conditions were safer.

Just 1.1% of respondents in 2014 indicated that driving conditions had improved in the last five years by answering that they either feel "much safer" or "somewhat safer" when driving. This was a slight decline from the 1.4% of respondents that held this view in 2012. In 2015 the proportion of drivers holding this viewpoint more than tripled to 3.6%.

With regard to braking suddenly, treated here as a crash avoidance maneuver measure, the proportion of respondents revealing that they have had to brake or swerve suddenly to avoid a crash declined compared to the prior two iterations of the survey. This may be a contributing factor in why respondents rated driving conditions as more safe.

Question Number	Su	rvey Question	Re	esponses	
1	How safe do	you feel driving in	your area c	compared to fiv	e years ago?
	Much Safer Somewhat Safer Same			Less Safe	Much Less Safe
2012	0.8%	0.6%	9.7%	33.2%	55.6%
2014	0.1%	1.0%	10.6%	36.2%	52.0%
2015	0.3%	3.3%	13.1%	40.9%	42.4%
3	Have you had	to brake or swerv	to avoid a crasl	h in the past 3 months?	
	Yes	Yes No			
2012	73.3%	26.7%			
2014	72.7%	27.3%			
2015	68.7%	31.3%			
11	Have you bee	Have you been in a multi-vehicle car crash in the past 12			nonths?
	Yes, it was m	y fault Yes, it w	as someone	e else's fault	No
2014	0.0%	2.6%			97.4%
2015	0.3%	3.2%			96.4%

 Table 5.3 Perceptions of Danger Responses

Only 17 respondents (2.6%) in 2014 and 21 respondents (3.5%) in 2015 reported that they had been in a multi-vehicle crash within the past year. Being in a multi-vehicle collision is a strong barometer of fear and danger on the roadway, and may contribute to some perceptions and behaviors. Unfortunately, these numbers are not large enough to extrapolate to fit the entire population of western North Dakota residents who have experienced a crash and will not be examined further in the analysis.

5.1.1 Danger: Perceptions of Self and Other

One common theme that emerged from the literature review was that of a "self-versus-other" complex. In general, humans perceive themselves as being safer and more responsible than others. This is also evident in situations related to transportation safety (see DeJoy 1989 and Delhomme, Verlhiac, and Martha 2009).

This theme prompted three questions on the final survey questionnaire to highlight self-versus-other perceptions as related to safety on the roadway (Table 5.4).

North Dakota drivers follow trends found in other studies: a majority rate themselves as safer than others with whom they are sharing the roadway. Similarly, a clear majority believe out-of-state drivers to be a source of danger when compared to fellow North Dakotans. This reveals that a sense of otherness exists when sharing the roadway. Despite this sense of otherness, North Dakotans in 2015 were not as critical when rating other drivers (t=3.034, df=1.277, p=0.002). The average rating for this prompt declined from a mean of 4.03 in 2014 to 3.90 in the most recent survey mailing, implying that North Dakota drivers in 2015 thought other drivers were safer than did their 2014 counterparts.

Question		Strongly				Strongly
	Year	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree
I am safer than others	2014**	0.1%	0.7%	24.5%	45.0%	29.6%
I am safer than others	2015**	0.0%	0.7%	29.7%	48.1%	21.5%
Out-of-state drivers are more dangerous	2014	0.9%	7.2%	20.4%	38.3%	33.2%
Out-of-state drivers are more dangerous	2015	0.7%	6.3%	22.7%	40.3%	29.9%
If I see a crash, I drive that route less	2014*	4.9%	30.4%	42.4%	17.6%	4.7%
often						
If I see a crash, I drive that route less	2015*	5.6%	37.2%	38.4%	14.5%	4.3%
often						
**Statistically significant difference at 1% level for	r independer	t samples t-te	st			

 Table 5.4
 Self-versus-Other Danger on the Roadway

*Statistically significant difference at 5% level for independent samples t-test

A similar trend happened when rating one's propensity to drive a route after seeing a crash (t=2.323, df=1,271, p=0.020). Although responses followed somewhat of a normal distribution, in 2015 drivers were more likely to continue driving a route even in the event they had witnessed a crash on that particular road segment. This may be due to limited route availability in some rural areas of western North Dakota.

5.1.2 Danger: Risk on the Roadway

A majority of drivers in 2014 and 2015 indicated that they feel as though they are risking their lives when driving in western North Dakota, based on those who answered that they "agree" or "strongly agree" with that prompt, respectively (Table 5.5). Less than one-in-ten (9.8%) either disagreed or strongly disagreed with the belief that they were risking their lives when driving in this part of the state in 2014 and approximately one-in-eight (12.3%) held this viewpoint in 2015. Between 2014 and 2015 a statistically significant shift in viewpoints occurred and respondents became more positive (t=2.196, df=1,268, p=0.028). On average, compared to responses from 2014, western North Dakota drivers in 2015 felt less likely to think that they were risking their lives when traveling in the target study region.

Table 3.5 Kisk on the Roadway							
Question		Strongly				Strongly	
	Year	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree	
I feel like I'm risking my life when	2014*	2.0%	7.8%	19.0%	40.8%	30.4%	
driving in western North Dakota	2015*	2.1%	10.2%	21.6%	40.6%	25.6%	
*Statistically significant at the 5% level for independent samples t-test							

 Table 5.5
 Risk on the Roadway

5.2 Danger Avoidance

Some drivers actively attempt to avoid danger on the roadway. Other drivers may not have this chance considering the remote, rural areas prevalent in some North Dakota counties. Drivers in the target region were asked if – during a typical 20-minute commute – they would drive out of the way to avoid large oil trucks and/or travel on roads with better surface conditions. More than two-thirds indicated they would travel at least five additional minutes for these improved conditions (Figure 5.2 and Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.2 Willingness to Travel Out of the Way for Roads with Fewer Oil Trucks

In all three years of the survey, roughly one-fifth of drivers indicated that they would more than double their current commute time and add an additional 20 minutes to travel roads with better surface conditions. One's willingness to travel out of the way is linked to how safe one feels today compared to five years ago. In the 2015 iteration of the survey, those who feel less safe will drive further to avoid oil trucks (F=9.418, df=4, p<0.001) or for better surfaces (F=4.841, df=4, p=0.001).



Figure 5.3 Willingness to Travel Out of the Way for Roads with Better Surface Conditions

5.3 Driver Behavior

Driver behavior behind-the-wheel directly affects safety. Drivers control some roadway safety via seat belt use, obeying the speed limit, and never choosing to operate a vehicle when impaired. External factors, such as law enforcement presence also influence driver behavior, often positively. Two questions examined driver behavior related to seat belt use and speeding. Based on driver response indicating that they "always" or "nearly always" wear a seat belt, 87.2% use a safety belt regularly while driving in town. A higher proportion, 95.5%, either "always" or "nearly always" wear a seat belt when traveling in a vehicle going over 30 miles per hour (Figure 5.4). Only 6.5% of drivers reported "rarely" or "never" wearing a seat belt while in town, and an even smaller portion, 2.5%, "rarely" or "never" do so while driving in a vehicle traveling at least 30 miles per hour. There was a strong, positive correlation between the two seat belt use variables (Pearson Corr.=0.746, n=577, p<0.001) indicating that those who use a seat belt in town are more likely to also use a safety belt in a car going at least 30 miles per hour. This is logical as seat belt use is often habitual in nature.



Figure 5.4 Driver Behavior Response: Seat Belt Use

Speeding tendencies have stayed consistent in all three iterations of the survey (Figure 5.5). In 2015, 5.2% of drivers reported that they "always" or "nearly always" have the dangerous driving habit of traveling at least 70 miles per hour in a 65 mile per hour zone – a slight decline from the 5.5% who reported doing so in 2014. A majority of drivers, 76.1%, reported "rarely" or "never" engaging in this dangerous habit. A contrast between seat belt use and speeding tendencies is that the median value of "sometimes" is much more prominent for speeding than for using a safety belt; roughly one-fifth of drivers "sometimes" drive more than 70 miles per hour in a 65 mile per hour zone. Based on these frequencies, in western North Dakota drivers make safer choices regarding seat belts than they do speeding.

A majority of respondents (69.7%) believed that greater law enforcement visibility helps reduce crashes on North Dakota roads. Drivers who held this viewpoint were more likely to wear a seat belt in town (F=24.227, df=1, p<0.001) and in a vehicle traveling over 30 miles per hour (F=24.872, df=1, p<0.001). An unexpected relationship occurred factoring for speeding: those believing law enforcement visibility reduces crashes were just as likely to speed on a road with a 65 mile per hour speed limit (F=1.405, df=1, p=0.236). This suggests that drivers believe law enforcement has a deterrent effect on crashes, but not on ticketing for compliance with speed laws.



Figure 5.5 Driver Behavior Response: Speeding

5.3.1 Driver-Reported Priorities

Drivers were asked to rank their priorities for four issues that may be targeted in traffic safety: improved road signage, increased law enforcement presence, heightened driver awareness, and education for truck/passenger car interaction. Road signage is important in providing drivers information needed for navigation and vehicle control (Rasanen and Hornberry 2006). Increased law enforcement presence has been proven as a traffic safety intervention that reduces crime, reduces the fear of a crime occurring, and provides the public with a greater sense of security and safety (NHTSA 2001). Driver awareness is also a critical element in traffic safety. Driver expectations, perceptions, and distraction can create a significant risk for both the driver and others on the road. The size/mass relationship of large trucks and passenger vehicles, along with operational differences such as acceleration/deceleration times and turning radiuses heighten the risk of a crash taking place (UGPTI 2012). The survey asked drivers to rank these issues on a scale of one to four, with one being least important and four being most important.

Results show that driver awareness is clearly seen as the most important issue to drivers. Three-fifths (60.0%) ranked it as most important. Similarly, the lowest proportion, 7.9%, ranked driver awareness as least important. This congruity suggests that driver awareness is, in fact, the most important issue facing drivers in the oil region (Figure 5.6).

A majority of drivers perceived three issues to be important, based on the proportion of those who ranked the issues as a 3 or 4, respectively. Over three-fifths (63.7%) rated law enforcement presence as being either most important or second-most important. A similar proportion, 59.1%, ranked passenger vehicle/large truck interaction as their most important or second-most important issue. A clear majority, 81.6%, believed that driver awareness was a top priority.

Unlike these three issues, a majority of drivers did not think that signage related to traffic rules was of the highest priority. More than half (56.3%) of those sampled ranked signage related to traffic rules as either least important or second-least important. The proportion of individuals who ranked signage last (31.3%) was noticeably higher than law enforcement presence (13.5%), driver awareness (7.9%) and passenger vehicle/large truck interaction (22.4%).



Figure 5.6 Driver Safety Priorities for Traffic Safety

5.4 Large Truck-Passenger Vehicle Interaction

Based on driver response in 2015, roughly three in four (75.3%) drivers in the 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties meet or pass a large truck daily (Table 5.6). Only 2.3% of drivers reported meeting trucks on the roadway less than once per month or not at all. In terms of perceived safety, drivers generally felt unsafe when passing or being passed by large trucks. About half (47.8%) of all drivers indicated that they felt either "unsafe" or "very unsafe" while passing large trucks and about three-fifths (61.5%) felt the same way while being passed by large trucks. There was an obvious link between these two variables: drivers who felt safe passing large oil trucks were more likely to also feel safe when being passed by large trucks (Pearson Corr.=0.716, n=576, p<0.001).

Question #	Question	Response							
5	How often do y	you meet/pass large trucks while driving?							
		Daily	Few/Week	Few/Month	<1/Month	Never			
	2015	75.3%	14.8%	7.5%	2.0%	0.3%			
	2014	74.5%	15.2%	9.1%	0.9%	0.4%			
	2012	79.4%	12.5%	6.0%	1.5%	0.5%			
ба	How safe do yo	you feel when passing large trucks?							
		V. Safe	Sw. Safe	Neutral	Unsafe	V. Unsafe			
	2015	4.5%	19.7%	28.0%	33.4%	14.4%			
	2014	2.8%	20.2%	26.0%	34.2%	16.9%			
	2012	4.0%	20.4%	21.8%	32.4%	21.3%			
6b	How safe do yo	u feel when	being passed by	large trucks?					
		V. Safe	Sw. Safe	Neutral	Unsafe	V. Unsafe			
	2015	2.8%	14.3%	21.4%	37.3%	24.2%			
	2014	1.6%	14.6%	17.1%	38.8%	27.9%			
	2012	2.8%	12.9%	18.7%	37.4%	28.3%			

Table 5.6 Responses to Large Truck/Passenger Vehicle Interaction Questions

5.5 Driver Groups

In addition to general population insight, the potential to focus traffic safety efforts for more efficient resource use may be possible. For instance, some significant differences were found when factoring for driver groups. These driver groups – the independent variables used in this portion of the analysis – include gender, age, length of residency, and high-risk young drivers.

5.5.1 Gender

Some differences between males and females were found related to safety and behaviors (Table 5.7). Men interact with trucks more regularly than women in this sample (F=5.537, df=1, p=0.019). Despite sharing the road less often with large trucks, perceptions of safety were lower for women when rating how safe it is passing large oil trucks (F=27.985, df=1, p<0.001) and being passed by large oil trucks (F=6.010, df=1, p=0.015). This follows results from 2014 in which there were also differences in how men and women perceived safety when being passed by large oil trucks.

Women exhibit behaviors that are safer than men, especially with regard to seat belt use. Females were more likely to wear a seat belt when driving in town (F=9.649, df=1, p=0.002) and when in a vehicle traveling over 30 miles per hour (F=23,340, df=1, p<0.001). This continues a trend that initially occurred in 2012. Other studies of North Dakota driver behaviors have found similar differences between seat belt use rates among men and women (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2010-2015). It is possible that women choose to wear a seat melt more regularly because they have a greater fear of being injured in a crash in the future (F=6.278, df=1, p=0.012).

QUESTION	SCALE ₁	ALL DRIVERS	MALE	FEMALE	SIG.
Safety Now vs. 5 Years Ago	1-5	1.79	1.85	1.73	
Read, Seen, Heard Code for the Road	0-1	0.33	0.37	0.30	
Changed Driving After Code for the Road	0-1	0.34	0.33	0.34	
Sudden Brake/Swerve	0-1	0.68	0.69	0.68	
Law Enforcement Visibility	0-1	0.70	0.66	0.73	
Meet/Pass Trucks Frequency	1-5	4.62	4.70	4.55	*
Safety Passing Trucks	1-5	2.66	2.91	2.44	**
Safety Being Passed by Trucks	1-5	2.34	2.45	2.23	*
Seat Belt Use in Town	1-5	4.52	4.39	4.64	**
Seat Belt Use 30+ MPH	1-5	4.78	4.64	4.91	**
Drive > 70 on 65 MPH Road	1-5	2.06	2.00	2.11	
Safer Driver than Others	1-5	3.91	3.97	3.85	*
Out-of-State are Dangerous	1-5	3.92	3.96	3.89	
I'm Risking My Life	1-5	3.77	3.74	3.81	
Drive Route Less After Seeing Crash	1-5	2.75	2.67	2.82	
Fear Future Injury	1-5	3.26	3.16	3.36	*
Improving Road Conditions	1-5	4.19	4.15	4.23	
Signage to Traffic Rules	1-4	2.34	2.34	2.34	
Law Enforcement Presence	1-4	2.86	2.89	2.83	
Driver Awareness	1-4	3.33	3.38	3.29	
Truck/Passenger Car Interaction	1-4	2.69	2.74	2.65	

	Table 5.7	Differences in	Mean Driver	Views and	Behaviors,	by Gender
--	-----------	----------------	-------------	-----------	------------	-----------

**Significant difference at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA

*Significant difference at the 5% level for 1-way ANOVA

/Nominal/Ordinal scales require different tests of significance

Please refer to Table 5.1 and Table 5.2 for quantitative scale definitions for responses

5.5.2 Age

Like results from 2012, some differences in views and behaviors exist across age groups. Table 5.8 highlights mean response values by the six age groups studied in this survey. The table suggests that extreme values tend to be associated with the youngest and oldest age cohorts, respectively. Perceptions of safety are skewed, with older drivers generally feeling safer on the roadway than those in younger age cohorts. For example, older drivers are less fearful of being injured in a future crash (F=3.149, df=5, p=0.008). This may be related to their lower likelihood of having had to brake or swerve to avoid a crash in the last three months (Chi-Sq.=50.087, df=5, p<0.001).

Traffic safety priorities tend to be viewed as more important by older drivers. Higher values are clustered near the 65-74 and 75+ age cohorts. The driver-rated importance of signage related to traffic rules (F=3.218, df=5, p=0.007) and law enforcement presence (Chi-Sq.=14.002, df=5, p=0.016) increases with age.

Younger drivers are more likely to speed (F=8.979, df=5, p<0.001), more likely to interact with trucks (F=6.981, df=5, p<0.001), and are less likely to wear a seat belt in a vehicle traveling at least 30 miles per hour (F=2.437, df=5, p=0.034). Some of these experiences may be due to how often one drives. In North Dakota, younger drivers typically travel more miles annually than their elderly counterparts (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2010-2015).

Table 5.6 Differences in Mean	Table 5.6 Differences in Mean Driver Views and Denaviors, by Age									
QUESTION	$SCALE_1$	AGE GI	ROUP AN	D CORRE	SPONDIN	NG MEAN	VALUE			
		18-342	35-44	45-54	55-64	65-74	75+			
Safety Now vs. 5 Years Ago	1-5	1.85	1.88	1.70	1.71	1.84	1.88			
RSH Code for the Road	0-1	0.37##	0.47##	0.43##	0.31##	0.24##	0.19##			
Changed Code for the Road	0-1	0.44	0.43	0.34	0.34	0.26	0.26			
Sudden Brake/Swerve	0-1	0.85##	0.80##	0.77##	0.71##	0.64##	0.36##			
Law Enforcement Visibility	0-1	0.55#	0.59#	$0.70^{\#}$	0.71#	0.77#	0.79#			
Meet/Pass Trucks	1-5	4.73**	4.78**	4.71**	4.71**	4.49**	4.22**			
Safety Passing Trucks	1-5	2.85	2.66	2.62	2.67	2.65	2.63			
Safety Passed by Trucks	1-5	2.35	2.40	2.23	2.34	2.28	2.56			
Seat Belt Use in Town	1-5	4.21	4.56	4.58	4.52	4.60	4.59			
Seat Belt Use 30+ MPH	1-5	4.54*	4.83*	4.86*	4.73*	4.87*	4.85*			
Drive >70 on 65 MPH Road	1-5	2.50**	2.32**	2.13**	2.06**	1.83**	1.66**			
Safer Driver than Others	1-5	3.85**	4.00**	4.06**	3.94**	3.81**	3.66**			
Out-of-State Dangerous	1-5	4.10	3.86	3.78	4.02	3.82	4.00			
I'm Risking My Life	1-5	3.66	3.71	3.88	3.80	3.86	3.54			
Drive Route Less	1-5	2.72	2.56	2.71	2.75	2.80	2.86			
Fear Future Injury	1-5	3.47**	3.36**	3.45**	3.20**	3.15**	2.99**			
Improving Road Conditions	1-5	4.29	4.25	4.09	4.16	4.33	4.10			
Signage to Traffic Rules	1-4	2.43**	2.07**	2.11**	2.39**	2.47**	2.67**			
Law Enforcement Presence	1-4	2.63	2.61	2.90	2.85	2.94	3.11			
Driver Awareness	1-4	3.20	3.37	3.26	3.32	3.54	3.34			
Truck/Car Interaction	1-4	2.67	2.60	2.53	2.67	3.05	2.72			

Table 5.8 Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by Age

*Significant difference at the 5% level for 1-way ANOVA

**Significant difference at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA

*Significant difference at the 5% level for Chi-Square test

##Significant difference at the 1% level for Chi-Square test

Nominal/Ordinal scales require different tests of significance

2Due to limited sample size, the 18-24 and 25-34 age cohorts were merged

5.5.3 Newcomers and Long-Term Residents

Some studies have shown that newcomers and long-term residents have differing attitudes towards land use (Smith and Krannich 2000). This difference becomes more prominent when environmental issues are taken into consideration. Differences may stem from political ideology, urban/rural background, and the amount of time one has lived in the community. From an environmental context, oil development in western North Dakota is not without controversy. The advent of hydraulic fracturing has pushed some residents to oppose energy sector development altogether. Given the latest boom in oil development, it is prudent to investigate if attitudes towards oil traffic safety differ between long-term residents and those who have moved to the region recently.

An important question to investigate is how one should classify newcomers as opposed to long-term residents. Some studies comparing newcomer and long-term resident attitudes arbitrarily use 10 years as a cutoff point to differentiate between attitudes (Graber 1974; Fortmann and Kusel 1990). An accepted idea is that some length of residence in a community is vital for developing one's sense of social integration within the community (Kasarda and Janowitz 1974).

Other studies postulate that it is best to identify newcomers and long-term residents by examining the year in which substantial in-migration to the community began (Blahna 1985). Using that year as a baseline, one can then confidently distinguish between residents who have relocated to the community because of pull factors (newcomers) and those who had established roots in the community before a major event took place (long-term residents).

The most recent oil boom began in 2004, which creates a newcomer designation of 11 years. This closely aligns with both the arbitrary 10-year cutoff point suggested by some authors and the beginning date of in-migration to the community suggested by others. One question posed in the survey asked drivers how long they had lived at their residence. As such, anyone living in the area fewer than 11 years was coded as a "newcomer" and anyone who had been in the area for more than 11 years was identified as a "long-term resident."

Results were mixed when comparing newcomers to long-term residents (Table 5.9). Newcomers were more likely to feel safe when passing a large truck (F=5.205, df=1, p=0.023). These same drivers were more likely to speed on a 65-mile-per-hour road (F=11.178, df=1, p=0.001).

Long-term residents were more likely to think that out-of-state drivers are more dangerous than North Dakota drivers (F=4.653, df=1, p=0.031). This viewpoint could be influenced by a number of factors, but one can speculate that the influx of oil workers may create a sense of "self-versus-other" between local residents and those living in the area temporarily for the oil industry. Logically, it is plausible that many of the newcomers sampled in this survey may have moved to the region specifically because of the growth of the energy sector. As such, these individuals may be accustomed to different driving conditions, and may not be familiar with what rural driving in western North Dakota was like more than 11 years ago.

QUESTION	SCALE ₁	ALL DRIVERS	NEWCOMERS	LONG-TERM	SIG.
				RESIDENTS	
Safety Now vs. 5 Years Ago	1-5	1.78	1.84	1.75	
RSH Code for the Road	0-1	0.34	0.36	0.33	
Changed Code for the Road	0-1	0.34	0.40	0.32	
Sudden Brake/Swerve	0-1	0.69	0.75	0.67	
Law Enforcement Visibility	0-1	0.70	0.66	0.71	
Meet/Pass Trucks	1-5	4.63	4.68	4.62	
Safety Passing Trucks	1-5	2.66	2.82	2.59	*
Safety Passed by Trucks	1-5	2.34	2.45	2.29	
Seat Belt Use in Town	1-5	4.52	4.59	4.48	
Seat Belt Use 30+ MPH	1-5	4.78	4.81	4.76	
Drive > 70 on 65 MPH	1-5	2.06	2.24	1.98	**
Road					
Safer Driver than Others	1-5	3.91	3.87	3.92	
Out-of-State Dangerous	1-5	3.92	3.80	3.98	*
I'm Risking My Life	1-5	3.78	3.68	3.82	
Drive Route Less	1-5	2.75	2.64	2.79	
Fear Future Injury	1-5	3.27	3.29	3.26	
Improving Road Conditions	1-5	4.18	4.23	4.16	
Signage to Traffic Rules	1-4	2.34	2.37	2.32	
Law Enforcement Presence	1-4	2.85	2.77	2.89	
Driver Awareness	1-4	3.34	3.37	3.33	
Truck/Car Interaction	1-4	2.71	2.65	2.74	

Table 5.9 Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by Length of Residency

*Significant difference at the 5% level for 1-way ANOVA

**Significant difference at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA

1Nominal/Ordinal scales require different tests of significance

Please refer to Table 5.1 and Table 5.2 for quantitative scale definitions for responses

5.5.4 High-Risk Young Drivers

In North Dakota, 18-34 year-old drivers exhibit explicitly different behaviors and attitudes from the rest of the driver population (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2013-2015). Other studies show that young drivers in North Dakota are more likely to speed, less likely to wear a seat belt, and are more likely to operate a vehicle after consuming alcohol (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2013-2015). These same drivers are less likely to have had recent exposure to safety messages. Interestingly, this target group generally has higher familiarity with safety campaigns targeting impaired driving, yet this group is still more likely to operate a vehicle after consuming alcohol.

In this survey of western North Dakota drivers, those between the ages of 18 and 34 were once again more likely to speed on a 65-mile-per-hour road (F=15.549, df=1, p<0.001). This group was also less likely to wear a seat belt in town (F=6.456, df=1, p=0.011) and in a car going at least 30 miles per hour (F=7.675, df=1, p=0.006). These changes represent a deviation from the 2014 iteration of the survey, in which there were no statistically significant differences in seat belt use.

Some studies have found that social situations, peer pressure, and the perceived invincibility of youth result in younger drivers making dangerous decisions on the roadway (Nygaard et al. 2003; NCADD 1988). This perceived invincibility is evident when young drivers rate certain driving situations. For example, these drivers were more likely to have had to brake or swerve in the last three months (Chi-Sq.=6.710, df=1, p=0.010) indicating that they may be driving recklessly more often than their 35-and-

older counterparts. Another difference between high-risk young drivers and all other North Dakota drivers is the perceived value of law enforcement presence. Young drivers were less likely to think that additional law enforcement visibility reduced crashes (Chi-Sq.=6.052, df=1, p=0.014). This parallels other North Dakota studies which have found that young drivers are less likely to think that greater police presence increases seat belt use among drivers (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2014). It is clear that this target driver group holds explicitly different views about law enforcement than North Dakota drivers age 35 and older.

QUESTION	SCALE ₁	ALL DRIVERS	HIGH-RISK	OTHERS	SIG.
Safety Now vs. 5 Years Ago	1-5	1.78	1.85	1.77	
RSH Code for the Road	0-1	0.33	0.37	0.33	
Changed Code for the Road	0-1	0.34	0.44	0.33	
Sudden Brake/Swerve	0-1	0.69	0.85	0.67	#
Law Enforcement Visibility	0-1	0.70	0.51	0.71	#
Meet/Pass Trucks	1-5	4.63	4.73	4.61	
Safety Passing Trucks	1-5	2.67	2.85	2.65	
Safety Passed by Trucks	1-5	2.34	2.35	2.34	
Seat Belt Use in Town	1-5	4.53	4.21	4.56	*
Seat Belt Use 30+ MPH	1-5	4.78	4.54	4.81	**
Drive > 70 on 65 MPH Road	1-5	2.06	2.50	2.01	**
Safer Driver than Others	1-5	3.91	3.85	3.91	
Out-of-State Dangerous	1-5	3.93	4.10	3.91	
I'm Risking My Life	1-5	3.77	3.66	3.78	
Drive Route Less	1-5	2.74	2.72	2.74	
Fear Future Injury	1-5	3.26	3.47	3.24	
Improving Road Conditions	1-5	4.19	4.29	4.18	
Signage to Traffic Rules	1-4	2.35	2.43	2.34	
Law Enforcement Presence	1-4	2.86	2.63	2.88	
Driver Awareness	1-4	3.34	3.20	3.35	
Truck/Car Interaction	1-4	2.70	2.67	2.70	

Table 5.10 Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by High-Risk Driver Group

*Significant difference at the 5% level for 1-way ANOVA

**Significant difference at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA

*Significant difference at the 5% level for Chi-Square test

/Nominal/Ordinal scales require different tests of significance

Please refer to Table 5.1 and Table 5.2 for quantitative scale definitions for responses

5.6 Impact of Public Awareness as a Safety Strategy: Code for the Road

The survey highlighted familiarity with the *Code for the Road* safety campaign. *Code for the Road* was targeted at high-risk (18-34 year-old) males and emphasizes safety messages such as buckling up, driving sober, and slowing down. It is a statewide campaign, but given the demographic of generally young, male oil workers moving into the western part of the state for employment, it was believed that the campaign would improve road safety in the targeted area. These messages have been displayed on television, radio, and internet advertisements since 2014. Internet advertisements are optimized to play more frequently on certain websites when visited by the target demographic (Heidle, Horton, and Lerman 2014). The survey included two questions addressing exposure to the safety initiative. Drivers were first asked whether they had recently read, seen, or heard the safety messages being promoted by the *Code for the Road* initiative. Drivers were then asked if they changed their driving behavior after seeing such ads. One-third (33.3%) of respondents indicated that they had recent exposure to the advertisements – a noticeable increase from

18.6% in 2014. Of these, 46.8% reported positively improving their driving after being exposed to the safety messages –another improvement from 29.9% in 2014. Among all of the drivers within this sample, 14.9% positively changed their driving behaviors as a direct result of the *Code for the Road* ads.

Detail beyond the targeted online advertising was not available about the deployment of the *Code for the Road* safety campaign. Approximately two-thirds (64.1%) of all drivers who had seen a *Code for the Road* advertisement lived in Ward, Stark, and Williams counties. The safety initiative may have targeted those three counties, though it should be noted that they are home to the three largest cities in the oil region: Minot, Dickinson, and Williston, respectively. Moreover, if McLean and Mercer counties are included with the three aforementioned counties, the total proportion of drivers who saw the *Code for the Road* ads increases to 77.1%. In other words, approximately three out of every four drivers who saw a *Code for the Road* advertisement lived in only 5 of the 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties.

5.6.1 Exposure as a Determinant of Views and Behaviors

Like the other driver groups highlighted in this study, it is plausible that exposure to safety messages, such as the one put forth by *Code for the Road*, may influence drivers positively to hold views that are different from those individuals who have not been exposed to safety messages. Education influence is powerful, and has been found to be linked to behavior changes among drivers in North Dakota (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2010-2015). A dummy variable was created based on responses to the second question of the survey. The variable categorized drivers into two groups: those who had recent exposure to the safety messages and those who did not. When these groups were compared with one another, results were mostly expected (Table 5.11).

Overall, drivers held similar viewpoints regardless of whether or not they had recently read, seen, or heard a *Code for the Road* advertisement. There were four significant differences between the two groups, though only one was significant at the 1% level. On average, drivers who had recent exposure to the *Code for the Road* safety messages were more likely to have had to brake or swerve to avoid a crash (Chi-Sq.=4.441, df=1, p=0.035). It can be argued that this is an unexpected result: those who would have been exposed to the safety messages should have driven with more caution and thus been less likely to be in situations where one may need to use such a crash avoidance maneuver.

Other results were expected. Those with exposure to the safety messages were more likely to believe that law enforcement visibility can reduce crashes (Chi-Sq.=4.038, df=1, p=0.044). This is expected as some of the messages highlight the influence of law enforcement personnel on drivers who are not abiding by legal driving standards. The advertisements also advocate that drivers adopt behaviors that follow the law.

There were two statistically significant differences between these groups factoring for truck safety. Drivers who had exposure to the safety messages were more likely to prioritize large truck/passenger vehicle interaction as a safety strategy (F=4.200, df=1, p=0.041) and rated perceptions of safety when being passed by large trucks as lower than did those who did not view the safety campaign (F=7.907, df=1, p=0.005). It is plausible that these two variables are related: drivers who feel unsafe being passed by trucks may then want to dedicate more resources to large truck/passenger vehicle interaction safety. Because the safety campaign focuses on preventing danger on the roadway, drivers may hold these attitudes based on their underlying views that large trucks are a source of danger.

QUESTION	SCALE ₁	ALL DRIVERS	SAW AD	DID NOT SEE AD	SIG.		
Safety Now vs. 5 Years Ago	1-5	1.78	1.70	1.83			
Sudden Brake/Swerve	0-1	0.69	0.75	0.66	#		
Law Enforcement Visibility	0-1	0.69	0.75	0.66	#		
Meet/Pass Trucks	1-5	4.64	4.69	4.61			
Safety Passing Trucks	1-5	2.67	2.62	2.70			
Safety Passed by Trucks	1-5	2.35	2.17	2.44	**		
Seat Belt Use in Town	1-5	4.52	4.51	4.53			
Seat Belt Use 30+ MPH	1-5	4.78	4.75	4.79			
Drive > 70 on 65 MPH Road	1-5	2.05	2.15	2.01			
Safer Driver than Others	1-5	3.91	3.99	3.87			
Out-of-State Dangerous	1-5	3.92	3.88	3.94			
I'm Risking My Life	1-5	3.77	3.84	3.74			
Drive Route Less	1-5	2.73	2.71	2.74			
Fear Future Injury	1-5	3.26	3.30	3.24			
Improving Road Conditions	1-5	4.18	4.25	4.14			
Signage to Traffic Rules	1-4	2.34	2.24	2.39			
Law Enforcement Presence	1-4	2.85	2.94	2.81			
Driver Awareness	1-4	3.34	3.29	3.36			
Truck/Car Interaction	1-4	2.69	2.83	2.62	*		
**Significant difference at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA							

Table 5.11 Differences in Mean Driver Views and Behaviors, by Code for the Road Exposure

*Significant difference at the 5% level for 1-way ANOVA

*Significant difference at the 5% level for Chi-Square test /Nominal/Ordinal scales require different tests of significance Please refer to Table 5.1 and Table 5.2 for quantitative scale definitions for responses

6. CRASH DATA

In addition to survey data, crash reports were collected for the 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties from 2004 to 2014. Rural road data were queried specifically to track the total number of crashes, large truck crash rates, and crash severity – including injuries, fatalities, or property-damage-only (PDO) crashes. The results of the crash data are compelling: almost every crash statistic has increased considerably since 2004, and major spikes occurred in 2009 and 2011.

6.1 Oil Counties Compared to the Rest of the State

6.1.1 Fatal Crashes

Fatal crashes rose 107.4% from 2004 (27) to 2014 (56) in the oil-producing counties and the largest number (78) occurred in 2013 (Figure 6.1). This was outpaced by a 132.9% growth in VMT in the same time period and represents the first time since 2011 that VMT change has outpaced the growth of fatal crashes. The overall trend in western North Dakota shows that fatal crashes have risen with the increase in oil development. This may explain why many respondents in the survey indicated that they felt less safe driving presently compared to five years ago.

Traffic fatality trends in the oil region differ from other North Dakota counties: statistically-based linear trend lines are included to illustrate the contrast. Whereas fatal crashes in the oil region more than doubled compared to 2004 and peaked in 2013 (R^2 =0.6953), the number of fatal crashes in the rest of the state remained relatively stable, peaking in 2005 (R^2 =0.4135). Beginning in 2011, there were more fatal crashes in the oil-producing counties than in the remainder of the state.



Figure 6.1 Total Number of Fatal Crashes, 2004-2014

The fact that the total number of fatal crashes in the oil region outpaced those in the rest of the state is especially alarming given the annual VMT attributed to the two groups and their respective populations. Between 2004 and 2014, the 17 oil-producing counties had a smaller share of North Dakota's annual rural VMT compared to the rest of the state, yet experienced higher rates of fatal crashes every year in the study period (Figure 6.2). For example, in 2014 the study area's rural VMT (3.768 billion miles) was smaller than the rest of the state (4.102 billion miles), yet it experienced 1.486 fatal crashes per 100



million VMT in 2014, a rate that was about 30% higher than the 1.146 fatal crashes per 100 million VMT elsewhere.

Figure 6.2 Fatal Crashes per 100 Million Rural VMT, 2004-2014

With regard to population, fatal crashes in the oil-producing counties have been higher than in the rest of the state in each year of the study period. The U.S. Census Bureau (2015) estimates the oil-producing counties have a 2014 population of 202,027, which is roughly three-eighths (37.6%) the size of the rest of the state (537,455), yet in the oil region there were 27.719 fatal crashes per 100,000 individuals, a rate that is more than three times higher than the 8.745 fatal crashes per 100,000 individuals in the rest of the state (Figure 6.3). In terms of fatal crashes, both of these metrics show that driving has been more dangerous in the oil-producing counties than in the rest of North Dakota. Note that fatal crashes are still largely episodic in nature and are difficult to use for assessing traffic safety issues and strategies.



Figure 6.3 Fatal Crashes per 100,000 Population, 2004-2014

6.1.2 Injury Crashes

Crashes resulting in injuries have also increased during the study period, though the growth has been moderate by comparison (R^2 =0.3922) (Figure 6.4). During the time frame studied, the total number of non-fatal injury crashes in oil-producing counties increased 33.6% from 295 to 394. Non-fatal injury crashes in the 17 western oil-producing counties increased noticeably between 2010 and 2011. The overall growth in injury crashes may be a direct factor in why some drivers feel less safe and favor increased driver awareness or more law enforcement presence as strategies to reduce crashes. In contrast, the number of non-fatal injury crashes in the rest of the state decreased noticeably (R^2 =0.8745).



Figure 6.4 Total Number of Non-Fatal Injury Crashes, 2004-2014

Beginning in 2011, there were more injury crashes by volume in the oil region than in the remainder of the state. When injury crashes are normalized by 100 million VMT, it becomes apparent that the rates of injury crashes in the oil patch have exceeded injury rates in the rest of the state each year since 2007 and were comparable to the rest of the state near the beginning of the oil boom (Figure 6.5). In 2014, there were 10.486 injury crashes per 100 million VMT in oil-producing counties, a higher rate than in other parts of the state (6.713 injury crashes per 100 million VMT).



Figure 6.5 Injury Crashes per 100 Million Rural VMT, 2004-2014

When normalized by population, the rate at which injury crashes occur in the oil region have outpaced injury crashes elsewhere in North Dakota during each year of the study period (Figure 6.6). Using data from the most recent year, there were 195.023 injury crashes per 100,000 population in oil-producing counties in 2014. By comparison, there were just 51.353 such crashes per 100,000 population in the rest of the state. These numbers parallel previous statements about fatal crashes in the oil region: individuals living in this part of the state have a higher likelihood of being involved in a crash resulting in a serious injury.



Figure 6.6 Injury Crashes per 100,000 Population, 2004-2014

6.3.3 Large Truck Crashes

With increases in oil development come growing numbers of large trucks and heavy-duty machinery required to extract and transport natural resources. This has created a higher propensity for trucks to become involved in traffic crashes; large truck crash involvement in the oil region appears to be growing exponentially (R^2 =0.9447) but has less variability in the rest of the state (R^2 =0.5524) (Figure 6.7). From 2004 to 2014 the total number of large trucks involved in crashes in oil-producing counties increased more than 654%. This may explain drivers' fears of passing and being passed by large trucks. Within the last five years alone there has been a 162.1% increase in the total number of trucks involved in a crash.



Figure 6.7 Total Number of Large Truck Crashes, 2004-2014

When normalizing large truck crash rates per 100,000 population, the oil region once again outpaced crash rates in the remainder of North Dakota (Figure 6.8). There were 369.753 crashes involving large trucks per 100,000 population in oil-producing counties and just 55.819 per 100,000 individuals elsewhere in 2014. The representation in terms of traffic exposure is not known since VMT is not reported by vehicle class for the oil counties so the population exposure measure is reported.



Figure 6.8 Large Truck Crashes per 100,000 Population, 2004-2014

6.2 Overall Trends in the Entire Oil Region

Using 2004 as a base year, it is obvious that one crash metric – large truck crashes – have grown at a faster pace than other crash types (Figure 6.9). For the first time in four years, the fatal crash rate in the oil region has not outpaced the VMT growth rate, suggesting that 2014 was a safer year for North Dakota drivers living in the oil region.



Figure 6.9 Driving Trends in Entire Oil Region, 2004-2014

Fatal crashes are perhaps more prevalent due to the type of traffic associated with the oil industry. Injury crashes in the oil region remained on par with changes in VMT until 2009, but then began to lag behind VMT growth in 2010 and beyond. Taken collectively, the crash metrics analyzed in this study are more common in the oil region than in the rest of North Dakota which indicates that driving conditions are more dangerous in these 17 counties than elsewhere in North Dakota.

7. ECONOMIC FACTORS AND TRAFFIC SAFETY

In traffic safety it is very difficult to statistically demonstrate causative relationships. This is due to the myriad factors at play when one chooses to operate a vehicle. To further clarify, factors such as wearing a seat belt, driving impaired, weather, animals on the roadway, vehicle malfunction, driving unsafe for the conditions, reckless behavior, and overcorrecting are common reasons why crashes take place. Often more than one factor may lead to a crash. Introducing a new variable – oil extraction activity – is difficult to measure empirically, especially considering the dynamic "boom-or-bust" nature of the oil industry. Demonstrating that oil activity alone is a source of danger on the roadway is impractical given the many possible dangers facing drivers. Moreover, it is possible that additional vehicles and vehicle miles traveled on the roadway due to energy production may not solely cause danger, but may instead interact with other traffic safety factors to create unsafe traveling conditions. Therefore, it is prudent to demonstrate correlative relationships between extraction activity and crash measures. Economic activity related to energy production such as crude oil price per barrel, gasoline price per gallon, and newly erected oil wells were tracked on a monthly basis over the study period. These metrics were plotted against large truck crashes, fatal crashes, and overall crashes to identify any correlative relationships (Table 7.1). These relationships help clarify some of the influence oil activity has on overall crash patterns.

Variable	Measure	Barrel of	Gallon of	New	Large Truck	Fatal	Total
		Oil Price ₁	Gas Price ₂	Wells ₃	Crashes	Crashes	Crashes
Barrel of Oil Price	Pearson	1	0.901**	0.678**	0.533**	0.363**	0.225**
	Corr.						
	Sig.	-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.009
	Ν	132	132	132	132	132	132
Gallon of Gas Price	Pearson		1	0.831**	0.704**	0.506**	0.296**
	Corr.						
	Sig.		-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001
	Ν		132	132	132	132	132
New Wells	Pearson			1	0.862**	0.513**	0.441**
	Corr.						
	Sig.			-	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Ν			132	132	132	132
Large Truck Crashes	Pearson				1	0.546**	0.652**
	Corr.						
	Sig.				-	0.000	0.000
	Ν				132	132	132
Fatal Crashes	Pearson					1	0.340**
	Corr.						
	Sig.					-	0.000
	Ν					132	132
Total Crashes	Pearson						1
	Corr.						
	Sig.						-
	Ν						132

Table 7.1	Correlative	Relationships	between	Oil Extraction	Activity	and	Crashes
I UNIC / II	Contonunte	ronunomonipo		On Languon	1 1001 110 1	unu	Crubiico

**Pearson Correlation significant at the 1% level

Bold: Correlation and p-value indicate a substantive relationship

Note: Correlations between -0.5 and +0.5 indicate a weak relationship and are not addressed in this study

JSource: U.S. Energy Information Administration 2015a

₂North Dakota ceased reporting average monthly gas prices to the U.S. Energy Information Administration in March 2011. Data from March 2011-December 2014 uses the Midwest Region averages. (Source: U.S. Energy Information Administration 2015b)

3New wells represents oil wells that are still active (as of September 3, 2015) and went on-line in each respective monthly cohort

Some of the statistically significant relationships depicted in Table 7.1 are expected, but indirectly related to traffic safety. For instance, there is a strong, positive relationship between the number of new oil wells and the price of a barrel of oil (Pearson Corr.=0.678, n=132, p<0.001) and the price of a gallon of gas (Pearson Corr.=0.831, n=132, p<0.001). This is likely the product of a profit-based supply/demand relationship: energy companies have a financial incentive to drill more wells to extract more resources because a greater profit is to be made.

The relationship between wells and commodity prices then has an indirect – but noticeable – effect on traffic safety. There is a clear relationship between the presence of additional new wells and an increase in large truck crashes (Pearson Corr.=0.862, n=132, p<0.001). Furthermore, with the introduction of additional large trucks on roadways in western North Dakota, a subsequent rise in fatal crashes is observed (Pearson Corr.=0.546, n=132, p<0.001). This follows research from Braver et al. (1992) which noted that large trucks are generally associated with more severe crashes. This may also explain why the presence of additional oil wells is associated with a rise in fatal crashes (Pearson Corr.=0.513, n=132, p<0.001). Moreover, another relationship to consider is that of total crashes increasing as the number of large truck crashes increases (Pearson Corr.=0.652, n=132, p<0.001). This suggests that large trucks are accounting for a growing percentage of the overall crashes in the region.

In less technical terminology, it appears as though higher oil and gas prices lead to the construction of new wells. The presence of new wells is associated with a growing number of large truck crashes (Figure 7.1), which makes sense considering the vehicles and equipment necessary for oil extraction. The presence of more large trucks on the road is associated with a rise in total crashes and fatal crashes (Figure 7.2), which suggests that North Dakota drivers in this region may not be acting safely with regard to large truck/passenger vehicle interaction. This validates findings in the survey that some North Dakotans believe traffic conditions are dangerous, particularly when sharing the road with large trucks. Although this statistical approach does not demonstrate oil activity as causing danger on the roadway, the presence of more wells – and subsequently more large trucks – does appear to have a correlational link to worsening crash metrics.



Figure 7.1 Relationship between Additional On-Line Wells and Large Truck Crashes



Figure 7.2 Relationship between Large Truck Crashes and Fatal Crashes

8. CONCLUSION

It is evident that the driving environment in the 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties is noticeably different than in other parts of the state. Whereas other parts of the state have experienced traffic growth related to multidimensional factors, this particular area of the state has seen extensive growth surrounding one issue: the expansion of the oil industry. This development has coincided with drastic increases in population, job opportunities, and economic prosperity. As individuals flock to the 17 western oil-producing counties, increased traffic, including more personal vehicles, large trucks, oil trucks, and heavy-duty machinery, is being experienced.

Responses from the survey show that residents in the oil region perceive driving conditions to be unsafe. Although perceptions of safety compared to five years ago improved moderately from 2014 to 2015, most metrics studied in the survey questionnaire remained relatively unchanged between the three iterations of the survey. This reaffirms that the survey is both valid and reliable. Most drivers believed that improving safety on oil roads is contingent upon multiple factors, such as increasing driver awareness or utilizing greater law enforcement presence. Beyond perceptions, responses indicate that some behaviors, such as seat belt use and speeding, can be improved with greater compliance. It is undeniable that *Code for the Road*, an initiative geared specifically at encouraging safe driving behaviors, has had some positive influence. The safety messages were more widely recognized in 2015 and drivers did reportedly change behaviors after exposure to this safety campaign.

There were some important differences in responses when factoring for specific driver groups. Knowing these differences exist can be crucial for practitioners and safety personnel when planning future safety initiatives, intervention strategies or prevention efforts.

An examination of crash data in the 17-county oil region revealed that the total number of crashes, injuries, fatalities, PDO crashes, and the number of large trucks involved in crashes has increased substantially since 2004. Some crash patterns, such as the total number of large trucks involved in crashes, appear to be increasing at a rate comparable to that of an exponential growth curve. Moreover, every major crash statistic experienced a considerable spike, either in 2009 or 2011. This likely has a direct impact on driver views, attitudes, behaviors, and perceptions and may go hand-in-hand with why many drivers view roads in the oil region as unsafe. Crash data reaffirms results obtained by the survey, and validates that negative driving experiences reported by drivers are not just perceived, but are actually taking place on western North Dakota roadways.

Note that not all crash statistics within the oil region worsened from 2004 to 2014. This was more evident when normalizing data by 100 million vehicle miles traveled, per 100,000 population, or when using 2004 as a baseline year. Some metrics showed moderate improvements between 2013 and 2014, and some rates began to slow relative to crash rate growth in recent years. This may be the first sign of improved crash trends in the region, though it is still much too early to make this claim. Even with these moderate improvements, crash rates among North Dakota drivers are still higher in these 17 counties than in the rest of the state, especially when factoring for vehicle miles traveled and for population. For individual drivers in certain counties, it may be difficult to perceive that crash rates are improving when factoring for vehicle miles traveled and population growth as these measures are difficult to assess by firsthand observation. Local residents may be more familiar with changes in numbers and volumes of crashes as they are more easily interpreted. This may explain why responses to the survey indicate that driving conditions are dangerous and worsening, even if they are improving moderately in some individual counties when normalized by VMT and population.

Projections for continued oil drilling and extraction are difficult to quantify as they largely depend on the price of oil and a company's ability to generate profits. At the publishing of this report, crude barrel prices remained near six-year lows and extraction activity in western North Dakota slowed considerably compared to other years. The relationship between large truck crashes and new wells is undeniable; this then has a direct effect on fatal crashes as the presence of additional large trucks is associated with more fatalities. With economic uncertainty surrounding oil prices, VMT figures and population numbers may be difficult to estimate as travel may decline and workers may leave for other economic opportunities. If crude oil prices remain low, there may be a visible decline in truck crashes and a subsequent decline in fatal crashes. As of 2014, which represents the end of the study period, oil prices were still strong. Therefore, it may be prudent to continue tracking crash rates in 2015 and beyond to validate if a decline in extraction activity has a visible impact on traffic safety.

9. **DISCUSSION**

Future research can be improved by integrating more responses from specific groups into the survey. Although the survey was mailed to residents from all 17 western North Dakota oil-producing counties, responses varied greatly from county-to-county. Billings, Bottineau, Bowman, Burke, Divide, Dunn, Golden Valley, McHenry, McKenzie, Renville, and Slope counties all had fewer than 30 responses. Thus, the responses obtained from these areas could not be extrapolated to fit the rest of the population and should not be considered representative of the true sentiments and perceptions held by drivers from those respective counties. Similarly, there were not enough responses from the 18-24 year-old cohort to consider their responses as representative of the entire 18-24 year-old population in the region. Future research could benefit by intentionally over-sampling these groups to ensure that all demographics within the oil region are included. Focus groups with these communities or businesses may be useful in gaining additional insight and help mitigate these shortcomings.

Additionally, future research may benefit from integrating non-North Dakota residents into this survey through creel techniques or private company participation. The boom of the oil industry in western North Dakota has attracted temporary workers and businesses from Canada, Montana, South Dakota, eastern North Dakota, Minnesota, and other areas. Including non-western North Dakotans would provide an outside voice to better understand if perceptions of poor driving conditions are accurate across all residents or if they are simply a product of locals experiencing changing driving conditions firsthand.

Although new insights may be gained with future driver contact, it seems prudent to expand or discuss alternative strategies for improving travel safety in the region. Public health outreach using the *Code for the Road* platform may be one outlet for delivering the message, especially to targeted driver groups. Work with private companies in educating their workers about safe practices for maneuvering in traffic with increasing truck density may be another beneficial endeavor. If not already identified in the deployment, school and community events may also be strong venues for reaching young drivers with messages specific to oil region traffic safety issues such as how to interact with trucks safely.

Beyond public awareness and education strategies, deterrence methods may be considered based on successful experiences elsewhere. For instance, traffic surcharges may be useful in discouraging risky driving behavior such as driving too fast, tailgating, and improper passing. Some jurisdictions have successfully instituted surcharges on existing traffic fees for moving violations. The surcharges collected are generally dedicated to an associated cause such as emergency medical services or traumatic brain injury funds. An example is Douglas County, Colorado, where a Victim Assistance and Law Enforcement (VICE) surcharge is assessed on each traffic violation per Douglas County Ordinance 999-002 (Douglas County Sheriff 2012). If a driver is cited for three traffic violations on a citation, the assessment totals \$30 with a surcharge of \$10 applied for each violation. All surcharges collected are dispersed to local programs that provide services to crime victims. If one of the violations is speeding, an additional surcharge applies. The State of Colorado collects a \$12 surcharge for each speeding citation. These funds are dedicated to the Colorado Traumatic Brain injury fund (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2006).

In Texas, the Driver Responsibility Program is governed by the Texas Transportation Code, Chapter 708. An annual surcharge of \$100 is assessed for three years following offenses such as impaired driving, driving under an invalid license, and driving without insurance. The Trauma Center and Texas General Revenue Funds receive 99% of the funds collected; 1% is provided to the Transportation Department for Program Administration (Texas Department of Public Safety 2012). Another example of the driver responsibility assessment is found in New York where anyone convicted of an alcohol- or drug-related traffic offense must pay \$250 for three years (New York Department of Motor Vehicles 2012).

Operational solutions may also be discussed. Given that more than two-thirds of drivers were willing to increase the distance driven to avoid trucks, passenger- or truck-only routes or one-way traffic may be useful in certain situations or during selected time intervals. Public education and awareness regarding this type of change would be crucial. In addition to operational interventions, increased use of roadway safety enhancements such as clear zone, intersection lighting, edge lines, and rumble strips could also be considered. The ability of counties to pool needs in contracting as a group or joining into a state services contract may accelerate these types of investments.

Lastly, the ability of counties to share best practices and supplement efforts to manage heavy trucks to maintain roads in good condition may contribute to longer-term road safety. Road degradation, both on paved and gravel roads, is widespread. Whereas enforcement efforts are led by the state, several counties have begun their own efforts. In North Dakota, state, county, and city law enforcement are currently working together to increase visibility for road maintenance and beyond. Sharing best practices and standards related to these efforts may be useful for those already engaged and for counties or locales considering similar strategies.

REFERENCES

- af Wahlberg, A.E. 2012. "Changes in Driver Celeration Behaviour Over Time: Do Drivers Learn from Collisions?" *Transportation Research Part F* 15:471-479.
- Affolter, Michael T. 1976. "North Sea Oil Development: Some Related Environmental and Planning Considerations in Scotland." *Transportation Research Part F* 15:471-479.
- Aghabayk, Kayvan, Sara Moridpour, William Young, Majid Sarvi, and Yi-Bing Wang. 2011. "Comparing Heavy Vehicle and Passenger Car Lane-Changing Maneuvers on Arterial Roads and Freeways." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2260:94-101. doi:10.3141/2260-11.
- Beitsch, Rebecca. 2010. "Three Forks Formation to Yield Lots of Oil in North Dakota." *The Bismarck Tribune*, April 30. Retrieved July 11, 2011 (<u>http://bismarcktribune.com/news/state-and-regional/article_368dcb38-53ef-11df-a6c8-001cc4c03286.html</u>).
- Blahna, D.J. 1985. "Turnaround Migration and Environmental Conflict in Northern Lower Michigan: The Implications of Social Change or Regional Resource Management." Ph.D. dissertation, School of Natural Resources, The University of Michigan.
- Bosman, Julie. 2015. "As Oil Prices Slip, North Dakota Struggles to Get a Firm Grip on Its Budget." *The New York Times*, February 15. Retrieved September 30, 2015, (http://www.nytimes.com/2015/02/16/us/as-oil-prices-slip-north-dakota-struggles-to-get-a-gripon-its-budget.html? r=0).
- Braver, Elisa R., Carol W. Preusser, David F. Preusser, Herbert M. Baum, Richard Beilock, and Robert Ulmer. 1992. "Long Hours and Fatigue: A Survey of Tractor-Trailer Drivers." *Journal of Public Health Policy* 13(3):341-366.
- Chi, Guangqing, Jeremy R. Porter, Arthur G. Cosby, and David Levinson. 2013b. "The Impact of Gasoline Price Changes on Traffic Safety: A Time Geography Explanation." *Journal of Transport Geography* 28(2013):1-11. doi:10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.08.015.
- Chi, Guangqing, Mohammed A. Quddus, Arthur Huang, and David Levinson. 2013a. "Gasoline Price Effects on Traffic Safety in Urban and Rural Areas: Evidence from Minnesota, 1998-2007." *Safety Science* 59(2013):154-162. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2013.05.012.
- Chi, Guangqing, Xuan Zhou, Timothy E. McClure, Paul A. Gilbert, Arthur G. Cosby, Li Zhang, Angela A. Robertson, and David Levinson. 2011. "Gasoline Prices and their Relationship to Drunk-Driving Crashes." Accident Analysis and Prevention 43(2011):194-203. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.08.009.
- Cicchino, Jessica. 2012. "Washington's Target Zero Teams Project: Reduction in Fatalities During Year One." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Report No. DOT-HS-811-687.
- Clarke, Sharon. 1999. "Perceptions of Organizational Safety: Implications for the Development of Safety Culture." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 20(2):185-198.

- DeJoy, David M. 1989. "The Optimism Bias and Traffic Accident Risk Perception." Accident Analysis and Prevention 21(4):333-340.
- Delhomme, Patricia, Jean-Francois Verlhiac, and Cecile Martha. 2009. "Are Drivers' Comparative Risk Judgments about Speeding Realistic?" *Journal of Safety Research* 40:333-339. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2009.09.003.
- Donovan, Lauren. 2011. "Work in Progress: Slow Down for Oil Patch Campaign." *The Bismarck Tribune*, June 14. Retrieved October 10, 2011 (<u>http://m.bismarcktribune.com/mobile/article_b432b94c-96d6-11e0-a8a0-001cc4c002e0.html</u>).
- Douglas County, Colorado Sheriff's Department. 2012. "Traffic Tickets and Surcharges: Payments for Model Traffic Code Violations (Summons/Complaints) and Surcharges." Castle Rock, CO: Retrieved August 21, 2012 (www.dcsheriff.net/records/Traffic_Tickets_And_Surcharges.html).
- Fortmann, L. and J. Kusel. 1990. "New Voices, Old Beliefs: Forest Environmentalism Among New and Long-Standing Rural Residents." *Rural Sociology* 55:214-232.
- Graber, E.E. 1974. "Newcomers and Oldtimers: Growth and Change in a Mountain Town." *Rural Sociology* 39:504-513.
- Grabowski, David C. and Michael A. Morrisey. 2004. "Gasoline Prices and Motor Vehicle Fatalities." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 23(3):575-593. doi:10.1002/pam.20028.
- *Grand Forks Herald*. 2013. "Law Enforcement Grants Awarded to ND's Oil Region." July 26. Retrieved July 22, 2014 (<u>https://forumcomm.com/?publisher_ID=40&article_id=269289</u>).
- Hawken, Angela. 2011. "Evaluation of the Hawaii Opportunity Probation with Enforcement (HOPE) Community Supervision Strategy, 2007-2009." Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research. Retrieved June 28, 2013 (www.icpsr.umich.edu/icpsrweb/ICPSR/studies/27921).
- Hedlund, James S., Hope Gilbert, Katherine Ledingham, and David Preusser. 2008. "How States Achieve High Seat Belt Use Rates." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Publication No. DTNH22-05-D-15043.
- Heidle, Eric, Christina Horton, and Jennifer Lerman. 2014. "Behind the Scenes: The Production of North Dakota's Code for the Road Campaign and the Code for the Road Statewide Marketing Plan." Bismarck, ND: Presentation at the 2014 North Dakota Strategic Highway Safety Plan Conference, June 12.
- Helms, Lynn. 2015. "Director's Cut." Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Industrial Commission Department of Mineral Resources. Retrieved August 14, (https://www.dmr.nd.gov/oilgas/directorscut/directorscut-2015-08-14.pdf).
- Hingson, Ralph, Thomas McGovern, Jonathan Howland, Timothy Heeren, Michael Winter, and Ronda Zakocs. 1996. "Reducing Alcohol-Impaired Driving in Massachusetts: The Saving Lives Program." American Journal of Public Health 86(6):791-797.

- Houston, David J. and Lilliard E. Richardson, Jr. 2006. "Reducing Traffic Fatalities in the American States by Upgrading Seat Belt Use Laws to Primary Enforcement." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 25(3):645-659. doi:10.1002/pam.20195.
- Hyatt, Eddie, Russell Griffin, Loring W. Rue III, and Gerald McGwin, Jr. 2009. "The Association between Price of Regular-Grade Gasoline and Injury and Mortality Rates among Occupants Involved in Motorcycle- and Automobile-Related Motor Vehicle Collisions." Accident Analysis and Prevention 41(2009):1075-1079. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2009.06.009.
- Islam, Mouyid and Salvador Hernandez. 2013. "Large Truck-Involved Crashes: Exploratory Injury Severity Analysis." *Journal of Transportation Engineering* 139(6):596-604. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)TE.1943-5436.0000539.
- Jermakian, Jessica S. 2012. "Crash Avoidance Potential of Four Large Truck Technologies." Accident Analysis and Prevention 49:338-346.
- Kasarda, J.D. and M. Janowitz. 1974. "Community Attachment in Mass Society." *American Sociological Review* 39:328-339.
- Kim, Karl and Eric Yamashita. 2003. "Click It or Ticket: Boosting Seat Belt Use in Hawaii." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 1830:18-24.
- Kubas, Andrew and Kimberly Vachal. 2012. "Oil County Traffic Safety Survey, 2012." Fargo, ND: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute, North Dakota State University.
- Kubas, Andrew and Kimberly Vachal. 2014. "Oil County Traffic Safety: Perspective of Western North Dakota Residents." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2465(3):16-23. doi:10.3141/2465-03.
- Lacey, John H., Tara Kelley-Baker, Katharine Brainard, Scott Tippetts, and Mari Lyakhovich. 2008. "Evaluation of the Checkpoint Strikeforce Program." Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Report No. DOT-HS-811-056.
- Laska, Shirley, George Wooddell, Ronald Hagelman, Robert Gramling, and Monica Teets Farris. 2005. "At Risk: The Human, Community, and Infrastructure Resources of Coastal Louisiana." *Journal* of Coastal Research 44:90-111.
- Lee, Chanyoung, Meeta Saxena, Pei-Sung Lin, Enrique Gonzalez-Velez, and Jeanette W. Rouse. 2010. "Aggressive Driving and Safety Campaigns: Lessons Learned from Better Driver Campaign in Florida." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2182:79-87. doi:10.3141/2182-11.
- LeFever, Julie A. 2009. "Birdbear Formation in North-Central North Dakota Additional Production Potential." Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Department of Mineral Resources, DMR Newsletter, July 2009, 36(2):9-13.
- Lin, Mau-Roung, Wenzheng Huang, Hei-Fen Hwang, Hong-Dar I. Wu, and Lee-Lan Yen. 2004. "The Effect of Crash Experience on Changes in Risk Taking Among Urban and Rural Young People." *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 36:213-222. doi:10.1016/S0001-4575(02)00150-1.

- Loudenburg, Roland, Gregg Drube, and Gary Leonardson. 2011. "South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Program Evaluation Findings Report." Salem, SD: Mount Plains Evaluation, LLC. Retrieved June 20, 2013 (www.apps.sd.gov/atg/dui247/AnalysisSD24.pdf).
- Lucas, Jennifer L. 2003. "Drivers' Psychological and Physical Reactions After Motor Vehicle Accidents." *Transportation Research Part F* 6:135-145. doi:10.1016/S1369-8478(03)00021-4.
- Lyman, Stephen and Elisa R. Braver. 2003. "Occupant Deaths in Large Truck Crashes in the United States: 25 Years of Experience." *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 35:731-739.
- Martinussen, Laila M., Liisa Hakamies-Blomqvist, Mette Moller, Turker Ozkan, and Timo Lajunen. 2013. "Age, Gender, Mileage and the DBQ: The Validity of the Driver Behavior Questionnaire in Different Driver Groups." Accident Analysis and Prevention 52:228-236.
- Mitra, Subhro, Denver Tolliver, and Alan Dybing. 2012. "Analyzing Investments Needed to Support Oil and Gas Production and Distribution." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2307:1-8. doi:10.3141/2307-01.
- Murry, John P., Antonie Stam, and John L. Lastovicka. 1993. "Evaluation an Anti-Drinking and Driving Advertising Campaign with a Sample Survey and Time Series Intervention Analysis." *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 88(421):50-56.
- National Commission Against Drunk Driving. 1988. "Youth Driving Without Impairment: Report on the Youth Impaired Driving Public Hearings." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Report No. DOT-HS-807-347.
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. 2011. "Traffic Safety in the New Millennium: Strategies for Law Enforcement." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, Publication No. DTN-H22-96-5-05235.
- Naveh, Eitan, Tal Katz-Navon, and Zvi Stern. 2005. "Treatment Errors in Healthcare: A Safety Climate Approach." *Management Science* 51(6):948-960. doi:10.1287/mnsc.1050.0372.
- Neeley, Grant W. and Lilliard E. Richardson, Jr. 2009. "The Effect of State Regulations on Truck-Crash Fatalities." *American Journal of Public Health* 99(3):408-415.
- Nichols, James L. and Katherin A. Ledingham. 2008. "The Impact of Legislation, Enforcement, and Sanctions on Safety Belt Use." Vienna, VA: National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Report 601.
- North Dakota Department of Transportation. 2008. "North Dakota Department of Transportation Presentation to the Interim Taxation Committee on Extraordinary Road & Bridge Impacts." Bismarck, ND. Retrieved May 3, 2011 (<u>http://www.dot.nd.gov/media/executive/road-bridge-impact-2008.pdf</u>).
- North Dakota Industrial Commission, Department of Mineral Resources, Oil and Gas Division. 2015. "ND Historical Barrels of Oil Produced by County." Bismarck, ND. Retrieved August 14, 2015, (https://www.dmr.nd.gov/oilgas/stats/countymot.pdf).

- North Dakota Petroleum Council. 2011a. "ProgressZone: Western North Dakota is Under Construction." Bismarck, ND: Oil and Gas Tidbits, 2:1-2. Retrieved October 18, 2011 (http://www.ndoil.org/image/cache/2011_Tidbits_-_2.pdf).
- North Dakota Petroleum Council. 2011b. "Promoting Traffic Safety in Oil Country: Progress Zone." Bismarck, ND: Press release issued July 22, 2011. Retrieved October 18, 2011 (<u>http://www.ndoil.org/?id=232&page=*ProgressZone*).</u>
- Nygaard, Peter, Elizabeth D. Waiters, Joel W. Grube, and Deborah Keefe. 2003. "Why Do They Do It? A Qualitative Study of Adolescent Drinking and Driving." *Substance Use and Misuse* 38(7):835-863.
- Ouimet, Marie C., Bruce G. Simons-Morton, Paul L. Zador, Neil D. Lerner, Mark Freedman, Glen D. Duncan, and Jing Wang. 2010. "Using the U.S. National Household Travel Survey to Estimate the Impact of Passenger Characteristics on Young Drivers' Relative Risk of Fatal Crash Involvement." *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 42:689-694. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2009.10.017.
- Pollastro, Richard M., Troy A. Cook, Laura N.R. Roberts, Christopher J. Schenk, Michael D. Lewan, Lawrence O. Anna, Stephanie B. Gaswirth, Paul G. Lillis, Timothy R. Klett, and Ronald R. Charpentier. 2008. "Assessment of Undiscovered Oil Resources in the Devonian-Mississippian Bakken Formation, Williston Basin Province, Montana and North Dakota, 2008." Reston, VA: U.S. Geological Survey, Fact Sheet 3021. Retrieved March 13, 2012 (http://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2008/3021/pdf/FS08-3021_508.pdf).
- Prowse, Terry D., Chris Furgal, Rebecca Chouinard, Humfrey Melling, David Milburn, and Sharon L. Smith. 2009. "Implications of Climate Change for Economic Development in Northern Canada: Energy, Resource, and Transportation Sectors." *Ambio* 38(5):272-281.
- Rasanen, M. and T. Hornberry. 2006. "Harmonisation of Road Signs and Markings on the Trans-European Road Network to Improve Road Safety in the EU." Strasbourg, France: Presentation from the 2006 European Transport Conference. Retrieved July 31, 2012 (<u>http://www.etcproceedings.org/paper/harmonisation-of-road-signs-and-markings-on-the-transeuropean-road-network-to</u>).
- Rosendahl, Darcy. 2011. "Truck Size and Weight Can Bigger be Better?" Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Local Techincal Assistance Program. Retrieved March 6, 2014 (http://www.ndltap.org/events/oil/downloads/2011_truck_size_and_weight.pdf).
- Shults, Ruth A., James L. Nichols, Tho Bella Din-Zarr, David A. Street, and Randy W. Elder. 2004. "Effectiveness of Primary Enforcement Safety Belt Laws and Enhanced Enforcement of Safety Belt Laws: A Summary of the Guide to Community Preventive Services Systematic Reviews." *Journal of Safety Research* 35:189-196. doi:10.1016.j.jsr.2004.03.002.
- Skorseth, Ken and Ali A. Selim. 2000. "Gravel Roads: Maintenance and Design Manual." Brookings, SD: South Dakota Local Transportation Assistance Program. Report submitted to the U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration.
- Smith, Michael D. and Richard S. Krannich. "Culture Clash' Revisited: Newcomer and Longer-Term Residents' Attitudes Toward Lane Use, Development, and Environmental Issues in Rural Communities in the Rocky Mountain West." *Rural Sociology* 65(3):396-421.

- Solomon, Mark G., James H. Hedlund, Emily R. Haire, Robert H.B. Chaffe, and Linda A. Cosgrove. 2008. "The 2006 National Labor Day Impaired Driving Enforcement Crackdown: Drunk Driving. Over the Limit. Under Arrest." Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Report No. DOT-HS-811-039.
- Sonnenberg, Stephen A., Alan Gantyno, and Rick Sarg. 2011. "Petroleum Potential of the Upper Three Forks Formation, Williston Basin, USA." Houston, TX: Session presentation for the U.S. Active and Emerging Plays – Paleozoic Basins and Cretaceous of Rockies topic at the American Association of Petroleum Geologists Annual Convention and Exhibition, Search and Discovery Article #110153
- St. Anthony, Neal. 2011. "Is Bakken Oil Play a Winner?" *Star Tribune*, May 9. Retrieved July 11, 2011 (<u>http://www.startribune.com/business/121417959.html</u>).
- Strayer, David L. and Frank A. Drews. 2007. "Cell-Phone Induced Driver Distraction." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 16(3):128-131.
- Syner, Joey, Belinda Jackson, Lori Dankers, Bill Naff, Stephanie Hancock, and John Siegler. 2008. "Strategic Evaluation States Initiative – Case Studies of Alaska, Georgia, and West Virginia." Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Report No. DOT-HS-810-923.
- Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute. 2010. "Additional Road Investments Needed to Support Oil and Gas Production and Distribution in North Dakota." Fargo, ND: North Dakota State University, report submitted to the North Dakota Department of Commerce. Retrieved October 6, 2011 (http://www.ugpti.org/resources/downloads/2010-12_AddRoadInvToSupportOil.pdf).
- U.S. Census Bureau, 2014. "Annual Estimates of the Resident Population: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2013. 2013 Population Estimates." Suitland, MD. Retrieved July 22, 2014 (http://factfinder2.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=bkmk).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2012. "A Look at TBI Trust Fund Programs: Possible Funding Sources for Helping Individuals and Their Families Cope with Traumatic Brain Injury." Washington, DC. Retrieved July 12, 2013 (www.tbitac.hrsa.gov/download/TrustFundPacketFina5081.pdf).
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 2015. "Unemployment Rates for States Monthly Rankings Seasonally Adjusted August 2015." Washington, DC. Retrieved September 18, 2015 (http://www.bls.gov/web/laus/laumstrk.htm).
- U.S. Department of Transportation, Research and Innovative Technology Administration. 2011. National Transportation Atlas Databases 2011: A Collection of Spatial Data for Use in GIS-based Applications. CD-ROM. Washington, DC.
- U.S. Energy Information Administration. 2015. "Petroleum & Other Liquids: Spot Prices." Washington, DC. [dataset] Retrieved September 30, 2015 (http://www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/pet_pri_spt_s1_m.htm).
- U.S. Energy Information Administration. 2015. "Petroleum & Other Liquids: Gasoline Prices by Formation, Grade, Sales Type." Washington, DC. [dataset] Retrieved September 30, 2015 (<u>http://www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/pet_pri_allmg_d_SND_PTA_dpgal_m.htm</u>).

- Vachal, Kimberly, Laurel Benson, and Andrew Kubas. 2010-2015. "North Dakota Statewide Traffic Safety Survey: Traffic Safety Performance Measures for States and Federal Agencies." Fargo, ND: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute, North Dakota State University. Document compendium.
- Vadlamani, Sravani, Erdong Chen, Soyoung Ahn, and Simon Washington. 2011. "Identifying Large Truck Hot Spots Using Crash Counts and PDOEs." *Journal of Transportation Engineering* 137(1):11-21. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)TE.1943-5346.0000183.
- Wehrman, Cecile. 2011. "ProgressZone' Will Encourage Traffic Safety." *The Journal Tribune*, July 20. Retrieved October 11, 2011 (http://www.journaltrib.com/image/cache/11_Oil_Can_Tab.pdf).
- Whittam, Kimberly P., William O. Dwyer, Patricia W. Sampson, and Fran C. Leeming. 2006. "Effectiveness of a Media Campaign to Reduce Traffic Involving Young Drivers." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 36(3):614-628.
- Yang, Chao and Don Kent. 2010. "Preliminary Study of Birdbear Reservoirs in West-Central Saskatchewan." Regina, Saskatchewan: Saskatchewan Geological Survey, Saskatchewan Ministry of Energy and Resources. Summary of Investigation 2010, Vol. 1, Misc. Report 2010-4.1, Paper A-6, 1-12.